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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Good afternoon and welcome to all of you who have come today.  I’d like to offer a special welcome to Senator Tom Torlakson, my colleague and chair of the California Task Force on Youth and Workplace Wellness.  The topic is antidepressants and suicide.


I know that members of both our committees have been invited to join us.  It is a busy day, and I’m sure that members will be coming in and out.  But let me just open by welcoming all of you to the joint hearing of the Health and Human Services Committee as well as the California Task Force on Youth and Workplace Wellness.


Senator Torlakson and I would like to express our thanks to all of you for attending this hearing on a topic that is, I think, fairly timely.  It came not only to my attention as a result of reading the new information that was arising and the discussions, but also Senator Torlakson’s compelling request and his personal experience.  When he, in fact, requested that we convene a joint hearing to address this issue, I was honored that he had asked and happy to do so.


In 1999, the U.S. Surgeon General issued a Call to Action to Prevent Suicide.  This report led to a National Strategy for Suicide Prevention with several objectives, and that was to promote awareness, to reduce the stigma of suicide, to implement community-based strategies, and a number of other really tangible, sound objectives.  This initiative was launched because suicide was the 11th leading cause of death in the U.S., and it was resulting in about 30,000 deaths each year.


I worked on some of the policy work over the years, and in 2001 I did a piece of legislation in an attempt to help reduce suicide by implementing the Surgeon General’s call for an action plan.  I continued to work in this policy area with the help of my colleague, and little, I think, did either of us realize that we would be brought again under this topic back to the same issue.


Today, the suicide prevention community is a part of this discussion, the medical community, and, more importantly, the families that are affected by what appears to be a growing issue that warrants review and clarification and research and ultimately, probably, policy changes in our role.


We’re going to hear from medical and legal experts about the important issues that have been raised with the Food and Drug Administration regarding antidepressant medications that have been used to treat depression.  On February 4th of this year, after hearing extensive testimony, the FDA issued a Public Health Advisory regarding a specific class of antidepressants called selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs).  The FDA asked manufacturers of these drugs to include a warning statement recommending close observation of patients for worsening depression or thoughts of suicide.  This warning came after concerns were expressed that SSRIs had the potential in some cases to make a patient experience greater suicidal tendencies.


The purpose of this hearing today is to listen to a variety of perspectives concerning the efficacy and safety of antidepressants known as SSRIs and the role in preventing or exacerbating suicidal behavior.


I look forward to hearing from each of the witnesses.  I’d like to thank the Senate Office of Research and the staff of Senator Torlakson and also my staff for all of the hard work they have jointly offered and put together in this hearing’s content and materials.  


Now I would like to extend the invitation to my colleague who really was the impetus for pulling this hearing together.  As I mentioned earlier, I was honored to do so with my friend.  I think his testimony and his interest in this area is compelling on a policy level as well as a personal level, and I want to thank Senator Torlakson for allowing me the opportunity.  And I look forward to an informative hearing.


SENATOR TOM TORLAKSON:  Thank you again very much, Senator Ortiz, for working so closely with me and with our two committees and our two staffs working so closely together.  


This is very important, and it’s also the beginning, I believe, of a process of examining all the facts we can get of calling for more information to help us better understand both the benefits and how many lives and how many people have been aided by antidepressants and, then, what are the risks:  What are the risks in time?  What are the risks by type of antidepressant?  And what do we know, from everything from side effects, from muscle disorders, to ideation of suicide, or suicide alley, or actual attempts to commit suicide and actually carry it out?


We have a variety of witnesses.  We are looking forward to the public comment period as well.  We want to let the public that joined us know that we welcome your comments during the public section and that this will be, probably, the first of a number of hearings if we decide.  That’s not set yet.  If we decide to do legislation, obviously there’ll be extensive hearings to follow.  We’re understanding as we move forward and examining further what we can do in California within the parameters of California law and what we can do to persuade the federal government and the FDA to take the actions that we believe they should take in the interest of consumers and families not only here but across the nation.


As Senator Ortiz mentioned, personal tragedy struck in my family.  I had worked in the mental health arena for so many years before I even was on the city council and board of supervisors.  I devoted a lot of my time on the board of supervisors to mental health programs and issues and before that had been on the board of directors and led a community-based nonprofit in the mental health arena—the Recycling Center—that helped people with mental illness get job training and to have group therapy and residential care in the community and on to independency and to working through their mental health issues and becoming productive citizens entirely and healthy individuals.  


And so, that background is one that I came to with a lot of depth, but then,  when my niece, Liz Torlakson, committed suicide, it was still a mystery, and I realized I didn’t know a lot about depression, the degrees of depression, the number of people in our country and our state that are experiencing depression and what is severe depression and what isn’t; how do we sort out what medications individuals might best benefit from and what medications might be risky to individuals.  So, as I looked at my niece’s situation—again, someone bright and beautiful; a young woman who had everything going up in her life:  she’d conquered drug and alcohol addiction, had been clean and sober for three years, had had some mental health issues in the past, had just completed her GED, was moving forward in a very positive way, and suddenly she ended her life.  One of the contributing factors, according to the coroner’s report, the medical examiner’s report in San Francisco, one of the key contributing factors was her use of an SSRI antidepressant and then the sudden cessation of that use and then the sudden restart of that medication.  


Other literature—and we’re going to hear from witnesses today—indicates—and there’s debate—but there’s some indication, strong indication, that at certain periods of beginning the use of antidepressants and stopping and starting, that there is a risk of suicide, a significant statistical risk of ideation and thoughts of suicide, and then actual actions towards suicide.


So, we want to proceed in as balanced a way as possible, to get full information, to understand the benefits in the people’s lives who’ve been saved and how they’ve been saved by various forms of medication, and to ask questions:  What are the long-term and short-term effects of, say, a newer generation of psychotherapeutic medications such as the SSRIs?  Do we know what the long-term effects are, as well as do we know enough about the short-term effects?  What can we get in terms of full information, full disclosure, from all scientists’ and pharmaceutical companies’ clinical research?  What can we do to gather additional statistics on the SSRI connection to suicide?  Do our medical examiners and coroners have the capability of tracking statistically more data information?  Is there enough information to physicians?  Seventy percent of the SSRIs, I understand, are being prescribed by general practitioners.  Is that background in that form of prescription deep enough?  Are the doctors given enough information?  What kind of follow-up is there?  Is there enough comprehensive treatment, including counseling and therapy and other forms of treatment for mental illness, aside and apart from just giving a medication such as an antidepressant for the solution?


So, these are some of the questions.  There’s questions about:  Is there a line that is crossed in terms of direct marketing, in terms of how the direct marketing is done?  What kind of monitoring follow-up should be done by the whole healthcare system for individuals who are prescribed antidepressants?  Do we have enough of an informed consent system in California?  We understand there are some current regulations that require informed consent, like with Accutane, as a nationally required consent consultation and consent form.  We have a Government Code section in California that applies to county patients, whether they’re indigent or Medi-Cal patients.  Should that be more broadly applied to all recipients of antidepressants?


So, these are some of the questions, Madam Chair and good friend Deborah Ortiz, that we would like to explore today.  And we have a witness to get us started here in just a moment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Torlakson.


As I mentioned earlier, we will have members of both our committees joining us.  It’s a very busy day, and as they come forward, should they desire to provide comments, they would certainly be able to do so.


We have four panels today, and the first panel is on the issue of research.  The second panel is on health practices, and the third panel is on legal issues in this area.  And the fourth panel will include consumers of the mental health services and the family members who have been touched by suicide.


So, let me ask the first panel to come forward on research, and those two individuals are two physicians:  Dr. Joseph Glenmullin and Dr. Glen Elliott.  Please come forward.


Let me say for the public that Dr. Joseph Glenmullin is a psychiatrist who is a clinical instructor at the Harvard School of Medicine.  He’s the author of Prozac Backlash, and he’s also finishing a book on the difficulties of withdrawing from SSRIs.  He will provide an overview of what the research can tell us as of today.


And Dr. Glen Elliott is an associate professor in the Department of Psychiatry at UCSF.  He’s also director of the Children’s Center at Langley Porter at UCSF.  Dr. Elliott is a researcher of clinical trials and outcomes.  He also serves on the board of Northern California’s association of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry.


I assume Dr. Joseph Glenmullin will begin.


DR. JOSEPH GLENMULLIN:  First of all, I’d like to thank you for asking me to testify today.  I’m very honored to be here.  I’m particularly honored to be sharing the podium with families who’ve lost children to this side effect.  I have great admiration for their efforts to try and help other families not have this happen to them.


I’d like to say at the outset that I prescribe antidepressants.  I’ve had countless patients tell me how beneficial antidepressants have been for them.  I’m a moderate in this debate.  I’ve learned how important it is to say that up front because those who argue on the other side of this often try to portray anyone who dares to talk about these side effects as an extremist, which I am not.


I have, however, been critical of overprescribing antidepressants, particularly for mild, even trivial conditions, and of patients not being adequately warned of side effects of antidepressants, including this very serious one.  And I testified at the February 2004 FDA hearing that you referred to earlier that resulted in the historic March 2004 warning.


We’re all here largely because of that warning.  The FDA issued an advisory in March that antidepressants may make patients suicidal, especially when they start the drugs, increase the dose, decrease the dose, or go off, and the FDA warning applies to adults as well as to children.  The FDA warning covers all ten of today’s popular antidepressants; the first one introduced in the late 1980s—Prozac—and nine more subsequently.  Those ten are further divided into groups.  Six of them are what are called SSRIs.  Two others are closely related—SNRIs—but there are two antidepressants of these ten that don’t fit into either of those categories.  The details of that are not that important but will come up a little as I walk you through the research that we do and don’t have.


Our FDA really was caught with its pants down the year before 2004, in 2003, when the British equivalent of the FDA banned six of these antidepressants for children and adolescents.  I should mention that the regulators in Britain were alerted and only watching closely because of a remarkable pair of BBC documentaries which really brought this to the fore publicly in England and to the regulators there, and we owe a debt to the media in that country.  It’s regrettable that that happened in England rather than here, but that’s the reality.  So, the British have banned six antidepressants for children and adolescents.  It’s important to note that the British are still studying the data on adults and have not yet taken a position on adults.


Here’s a little bit of the data that the British were using.  On average, these antidepressants made children and adolescents two to three times more suicidal.  This is suicidal behavior, not just thoughts.  Obviously, many more people would have thoughts.  But that’s just the average.  Look at the data for Effexor:  7.6 percent of the children on the drug developed suicidal related behavior and only about a half a percent on placebo (or dummy) pills.  That’s a thirteen-fold increase in risk on the drugs.  That’s obviously totally unacceptable.


The British, if you look at their statement, have a list of side effects of antidepressants that can heighten the risk of suicidality, including agitation, aggressive reactions, insomnia; and the one I want to focus on is a form of toxic agitation called akathisia.  If you look at our FDA’s warning, they too have a similar list.  It includes anxiety, panic attacks, insomnia, manic reactions, and, again, akathisia, which I want to emphasize.


One of the strongest pieces of information that I feel I can bring here to the committee and to the Legislature is that I have personally witnessed this side effect in patients.  It’s a very dramatic deterioration in their condition.  When they start the drugs, it looks very different from depression, as I’ll talk about later.  Many of the patients who get this side effect were never depressed or suicidal.  They were put on the drugs for headaches, back pain, chronic fatigue syndrome.  It’s a drug-induced side effect that can affect anyone who goes on these.  It’s actually so well established, remarkably, that in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual—that’s the American Psychiatric Association’s official bible—it specifically says that SSRIs may produce akathisia and goes on to explicitly say that akathisia, in turn, can make patients aggressive and suicidal.  Other psychiatric textbooks describe this as well, and these textbook descriptions are based on numerous reports and small-scale studies in very reputable medical journals.


There are two faces to akathisia.  One is an inner, subjective agitation, an inner-psychological state, and the other is an outer, objective state visible to other people:  restlessness.  We know a lot about this side effect from an earlier class of drugs.  There’s literature going back to the sixties and seventies with that class of drugs, and it’s the same side effect with these antidepressants.  The visible outer restlessness is best known to psychiatrists; unfortunately more so with this earlier class of drugs than with antidepressants because this side effect has been so denied by the industry that many doctors don’t really realize that it can happen with patients on antidepressants.  But the restlessness can be mild, moderate, or severe, depending upon the particular case.  The inner, subjective state is described in the medical literature as abject terror, anxiety, tension, irritability, hostility, paranoia, rage reactions, and violence.


Just to try to give you an idea, patients say this is a very difficult state to describe.  Just a few examples or descriptions—that they say it feels like their bones are like tuning forks rattling inside their bodies twenty-four hours a day, or that they’re living twenty-four hours a day with the sensation of nails scratching on a blackboard, or like the molecules inside their body are all sped up, bumping against their skin, and they feel like jumping out of their skin, or like they have an intravenous running caffeine into their veins, like they are in fast forward and the world is in slow motion.  It’s this inner, subjective state that’s the most dangerous aspect of akathisia and the most poorly understood by most doctors who prescribe antidepressants.  It’s been said by experts in the medical literature that it’s more difficult to endure than any of the symptoms for which patients were originally treated, and it’s described as the behavioral toxicity of antidepressants.


The way in which suicide can arise as part of this, and not all patients who get akathisia will become suicidal—a subset of them do—is that death becomes a welcome relief from this abject terror.  Patients develop an obsessive preoccupation with particularly violent forms of self-harm.  It’s what’s called ego-dystonic; meaning that it feels alien to the patient.  Even if they weren’t warned that it was the drug—in fact, it is alien; it’s drug-induced—but even those who don’t know that will describe it as feeling alien; like they don’t know where this came from.  They will act in out-of-character ways.  If they survive suicide attempts, they’ll say that they don’t know how they lost empathy for family members who would have been devastated by this, but the empathy just went out of the window with this drug-induced state.


We know from research and from clinical descriptions of this that there are vulnerable periods, but most of the research to date has been on the first month or two after people start the drug or increase the dose.  I’ll say a little more later on about decreasing the dose and going off the drugs.


I particularly want to emphasize that the suicidality of akathisia is distinctly different in most cases from the suicidality of depression.  Patients who have akathisia and become suicidal want to escape.  They’re preoccupied with escaping this abject terror, anxiety, irritability, and this physical as well as psychological state that the drug has induced.  By contrast, patients who are depressed consider suicide because they are preoccupied with guilt, self-hatred, and hopelessness.  One of my colleagues at Harvard has described the contrast between this side effect and a context of depression as a patient with hay fever who suddenly gets pneumonia.  Unfortunately, doctors who don’t know about this side effect can literally stare it in the face and not see it because they think it’s a worsening of the patient’s underlying condition, and this is why education is so important.


We know how to treat akathisia.  You can decrease the dose, and in some instances the akathisia and suicidality will go away.  I prefer to stop the drug because this is such a dangerous side effect.  We actually have drugs you can add that will stop the akathisia and with it the suicidality.  We understand the brain chemistry of akathisia and why antidepressants that emphasize serotonin would be more likely to cause this side effect.  There are other side effects, as I mentioned at the start—insomnia, anxiety, paranoia, psychotic reactions, mania—that also heighten the risk of suicide, but the focus for most experts has been on akathisia.  Suicidality with these other side effects can look somewhat different.  Some patients have much more slowly developing, smoldering psychotic episodes, or manic episodes, that lead to suicidality.  But I wanted to emphasize akathisia because we know so much more about how it can trigger suicidality.


We need more research on the drugs that are not SSRIs and how they might cause this.  We also need more research on how decreasing the dose of antidepressants and going off of them can trigger suicidality.  Whether that is as frequently akathisia as when people are going on them and increasing is not clear.  Family doctors now write 70 percent of prescriptions for antidepressants, and they know little or nothing about this side effect.


So, I think a very important question in the context of the hearing that you’re having and the legislation that you’re considering is why don’t doctors and patients know more about this, because obviously, that’s very important for what you’re considering doing.  In fact, the FDA, the public, the profession, first learned about this side effect in the early 1990s shortly after the first of today’s antidepressants (Prozac) was introduced.  Believe it or not, there was more publicity about this side effect in 1990 than there is now.  Very dramatic, sensational cases in the media and scores of reports in medical journals.  The FDA held a hearing for this reason in September of 1991, just as they did again in February of 2004.  Unfortunately, in 1991, we now know from documents obtained through the Freedom of Information Act that five of the nine committee members that the FDA appointed in 1991 had such close ties to the pharmaceutical industry that the FDA had to waive its own standards for conflicts of interest.  Yet, despite these many conflicts of interest, one-third of the committee members back in 1991 voted for a warning.  As you know, the FDA didn’t issue a warning until 2004.  Think of all the lives that could have been saved in that time.


In 1991, at the height of the controversy, Eli Lilly, the manufacturer of Prozac, agreed with the FDA to fund a large-scale rechallenge study, which is really the gold standard for how to study this side effect.  Lilly rejected their clinical studies of antidepressants to win FDA approval as a means for evaluating this.  The industry is still hiding behind these studies, but it’s really junk science when it comes to discussing this side effect.  And Lilly’s internal documents, which we have because of lawsuits over these side effects, clearly indicate that they rejected this as a way to really try and assess this.  They also rejected large-scale epidemiological studies; again, junk science when it comes to this but again used all the time by the industry and by some psychiatrists to defend against this.


They said that the real way to study this is what’s called “rechallenge studies,” which is basically you ask someone who’s had a side effect, gone off the drug, side effect has gone away, to try the drug again and see if the side effect returns.  The classic example is someone goes on a medication, gets a rash; you think it might be the drug, you take them off the drug; rash goes away, and you ask them at a later date, Well, let’s just see.  Why don’t you take the medication again?  If they get the rash again when they go on, goes away when they go off, that’s very powerful scientific evidence that it was in fact the drug.  It’s the only way, really, with a side effect like this to study patients closely and clearly describe what is happening to them.


In fact, small-scale rechallenge studies have been done at Harvard, at UCLA.  These are small numbers of patients.  Just a few individual clinicians.  These are very expensive studies to do.  You have to hospitalize patients for their safety.  In every instance, patients who had made suicide attempts and were later asked to take the drug again developed akathisia and said it was the akathisia that made them make the suicide attempts.  In some instances, just lowering the dose made both the akathisia and the suicidality go away.  In other cases, treating the patients with drugs that make the akathisia go away also made the suicidality go away.  This is called pharmacological dissection because you dissect out the effect of the drug—the side effect of the drug.


Lilly agreed to do a large-scale rechallenge study.  As part of that they developed more sensitive scales for assessing suicidality.  They planned to share those scales with the other pharmaceutical companies that had additional new antidepressants in the pipeline.  Remember, Prozac was the first of these ten antidepressants.  Lilly developed the protocols for this study with outside consultants.  They planned to include some 200 patients; a hundred of whom would get the drug and a hundred of whom would get placebo.  They developed criteria for selecting patients who would be allowed into the study, and they were patients who had developed new or worsening suicidal thoughts—not necessarily behavior—that met three criteria.  One, that there was a dramatic increase in the severity of their suicidality; two, that they were preoccupied with particularly violent means of suicide and/or thinking of acting imminently on their suicidal thoughts; and that the suicidal thoughts had a particularly obsessive quality.  And again, as I said when I was describing akathisia, they were ego-dystonic:  felt alien and out of character to the patient.


Unfortunately, Eli Lilly never did the study once the media attention died down in the early 1990s, and the FDA failed to ensure that the study was done.  Moreover, the FDA failed to have other pharmaceutical companies with new antidepressants in the pipeline adopt the more sensitive scales for suicidality in the studies that they were doing.  Again, think of all the lives that could have been saved.


But there’s even more to their story because the pharmaceutical industry has tried to block doctors trying to study this side effect.  Lilly went and sued, for example, a Belgian doctor who was trying to survey doctors about patients who become suicidal after they go on antidepressants.  They flew to Taiwan when they heard that a Taiwanese doctor was going to publish a study and sent back an internal memo that we now have from lawsuits:  Mission’s successful.  He’s agreed not to present or publish his study.  He had instead agreed to work with Lilly for a lucrative consulting contract, and ten years later we still hadn’t heard from him.


The test case that went to trial in Louisville, Kentucky was a man who weeks after starting Prozac went on a shooting spree at his former place of work.  He killed eight people, wounded twelve others, and then committed suicide.  In 1994, this test case went to trial.  Lilly appeared to win a jury verdict, but after the trial the judge heard rumors that, in fact, Lilly had secretly settled the case during the trial.  He called the lawyers in to ask them if this was true.  They refused to answer, and Lilly fought him for three years through the Kentucky courts up to the supreme court.  He was a very brave man.  He prevailed.  He had an attorney general’s investigation that showed that, in fact, Lilly had made a secret settlement during the trial.  Three years later, with no media attention, the judgment was quietly changed from a jury verdict in Prozac’s favor—and there’d been a lot of coverage of that in 1994—to dismissed as settled.  In fact, there have been scores of secret settlements.  There’s a multimillion-dollar jury verdict in a Paxil case.  Part of the problem is that many of the internal documents that pharmaceutical companies have are not available to doctors.  So, we’re debating this, really, without a level playing field because so much of the information is not available.


The jurors heard in the Wesbecker trial that Lilly had reclassified suicidal behavior as “depression.”  In other words, they just said, Well, we’re going to call that depression.  There’s actually an extraordinary letter from one of their people in Germany saying, Why are you asking me to do this?  I don’t think I could explain it to their FDA, to a judge, to a reporter, or to my family with a side effect as serious as this.  


We know from a Boston Globe exposé that Lilly’s data from when they studied Prozac showed that the patients on Prozac had five times the rate of suicides and suicide attempts as patients who were on older comparison antidepressants and that they had three times the rate of patients on placebo (or dummy) pills, indicating that it was more dangerous for some patients to be treated with the drug than to go untreated.


Here’s what we call the Paxil before-and-after data.  Paxil was in the pipeline in the early 1990s when this controversy first arose.  GlaxoSmithKline, the manufacturer of Paxil, had already submitted their data.  In that data, hidden in that data, you could see—the graph on the left—the tall blue column is the suicide behavior.  This is suicide attempts and completed suicides on Paxil.  You can see it’s much higher than for the placebo, the dummy pill—the white column.  In 1991, when this became a big issue in the media, the FDA went to these companies with drugs in the pipeline and said, Please give us a report on this specific side effect.  And here’s the 1991 data.  They reclassified a number of suicides and attempted suicides, and all of a sudden placebo has a much higher number, Paxil has a little lower number, and they’re statistically the same.  Again, reclassifying suicidal behavior.


This is a 1998 confidential GlaxoSmithKline memo.  GlaxoSmithKline studied Paxil in children between 1993 and 1996.  This is a 1998 internal memo that clearly states that Paxil failed to be more effective than placebo (dummy) pills for treating children.  This is the same set of studies on the basis of which the British have banned Paxil for children and adolescents last year.  But in this 1998 memo, GlaxoSmithKline says that the company needs to effectively manage the dissemination of this data in order to avoid any potential negative commercial impact to Paxil.  And the memo goes on to explicitly say that the way to do that is to selectively publish bits of data that would make Paxil look more effective.  Who did they get to do that?  The researchers who had done the studies for them.


This is the article by Dr. Martin Keller, the chairman of the Department of Psychiatry at the Brown University Medical School, and more than twenty prominent academic coauthors, writing about the study that’s described in this 1998 memo, published in July 2001 in the Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry.  In contrast to the internal memo which says that Paxil failed, this article says that “Paxil is generally well tolerated and effective for major depression in adolescents” and has been used to promote prescribing these drugs off label, without FDA approval, to children.  The ________ in a recent editorial said holding these two up side by side, and a few other studies like Keller’s, that this is a disaster that should be unimaginable and a betrayal of the trust that patients place in doctors.


Again, we have recently learned that GlaxoSmithKline reclassified suicidal behavior, labeling it in their databases “emotional liability,” meaning moodiness.  As many of you probably know, Eliot Spitzer, the attorney general for the state of New York, has now sued GlaxoSmithKline for fraud.  This document is the lynchpin of his suit.


Now, I think an important question in all of this and for you to consider as legislators, thinking what you can do to protect the public, is what is the problem with the FDA in all of this?  Well, for one thing, critics feel that it’s a conflict of interest for the FDA to be overseeing the reevaluation of these drugs when they approve them in the first place and their own reputation is at stake.  But in addition, there’s a revolving door of executives in and out of the pharmaceutical industry and the FDA that’s really quite shameful, and the FDA comes under enormous political pressure.


Many of you may know that for the FDA’s hearing in February of this year, they took the data that the British had based their ban—their virtual ban, I should say, on children—they took that data and gave it to their leading in-house analyst, Dr. Andrew Mosholder.  Dr. Mosholder came to conclusions very similar to the British and felt that our country should take a very strong stand too.  Dr. Mosholder’s report was suppressed.  Dr. Mosholder, who was on the original agenda for the hearing, was removed from the agenda, and he has not been allowed to speak to the media.  In fact, the FDA has given this data to Columbia Medical School researchers and asked them to reclassify it.  What that means is second-guess the researchers.  The researchers back in 1993 to 1996, in the case of Paxil, for example—you’re a researcher; you’ve given a child or an adolescent the drug; they cut themselves; you’re interviewing them; they say that they were feeling suicidal; and you classify that as suicide-related behavior.  Now, more than a decade later, the FDA is asking Columbia researchers in the abstract, not being able to see that patient, let alone see that patient in 1994 when they cut themselves and said that they were suicidal, and ask them to reclassify it:  Do you now think that was suicidal or not?  This is a travesty given the long history of reclassification being used to hide this side effect.  It’s a travesty given the FDA’s failure to do the research that we really need on this side effect.


The industry response to this side effect has been to dismiss legitimate medical case reports and small-scale studies, which are all that solo practitioners can afford to do, as anecdotes, to blame patients’ underlying psychiatric conditions, and to scare the media and other interested parties away, saying, You’ll frighten patients away from treatment with this kind of fear mongering that they have used.  In fact, until very recently, and in many quarters to this day, an authoritarian approach has prevailed of:  Don’t warn patients; you might frighten them.  In fact, the most dangerous scenario is when neither the doctor nor the patient knows about this side effect.  If the patient gets it, they think, The miracle cure that worked for others, for millions of others, is not working for me; I’m a hopeless case, and they’re at serious risk to harm themselves.  The doctors are unaware and often do the opposite of what’s needed:  they increase the dose rather than take the patient off the drug.  If you warn patients in advance, no matter how bad they feel, they can hold on to that idea that This might be the drug rather than me and seek immediate attention.  I always warn patients, and no one is frightened away from treatment.


Now, there is much-needed research in this area.  We need to know if some of these antidepressants are in fact more likely than others to cause this suicidal side effect.  We need to know what percentage of patients.  We need good, hard data on what percentage of patients become suicidal after they start antidepressants.  We need to know what percentage of those do so because of insomnia versus anxiety versus agitation, akathisia, hypomania, mania.  We need to do the large-scale rechallenge study which should have been done over a decade ago.


I’m actually very interested in doing some of this research and additional educational efforts, and anyone in the audience who knows of any philanthropic organizations or individuals, please let me know before the end of the day.


The best parallel here is with the tobacco industry.  The tobacco industry, as we all now know, for decades denied that cigarettes caused cancer.  They deliberately discredited doctors trying to call attention to it.  We know this from the tobacco papers.  They funded junk science research by industry-friendly doctors, and they blocked research that’s really needed.


I wholeheartedly support the California State Legislature’s consideration of a written informed consent for patients going on antidepressants.  When you think about it, we use written informed consents in medicine when treatments offer hope but it’s serious risk, which is what antidepressants do.  There’s the Accutane model.  Accutane has been linked to suicidality, and there’s a written informed consent for patients going on Accutane.  There’s the aspirin example.  Aspirin is not typically prescribed to young children because it can cause lethal allergic reactions.


Now, this is not like other side effects of drugs where doctors are well informed and know.  For example, with steroids, the patients can become psychotic, and that can be very dangerous, but doctors know that.  They’ve been well educated about it.  They’ve warned patients about it.  They’re looking for it.  This is a side effect that the majority of doctors prescribing the drug don’t know about, and that’s why the initiative that you’re taking is needed.  It could spearhead the additional research and public education that we need.  


With these precedents of informed consent, I think that it’s really legitimate to be considering what you’re doing.  If the pharmaceutical industry is not going to protect patients adequately, if the FDA is not going to adequately protect the public, then it’s appropriate for legislative bodies to consider stepping in and doing so.


Lastly, I’m a clinician.  I spend my days sitting opposite patients and talking to them about what they’re experiencing, whether or not drugs would be a good idea for them or not, doing psychotherapy with them, getting to know them and their families.  So, all of this information in the end, to me, comes down to a one-on-one discussion with somebody else:  a patient.  I would say to you as legislators considering this:  What if you were considering an antidepressant for yourself or for one of your children?  Would you prefer to know something about this?  Would you like to know something about akathisia and the other side effects of antidepressants that may heighten suicidality?  Would you like to know about the textbook descriptions, even if you were told as part of the discussion that there’s more research needed here; we don’t know everything, but there’s reason to be concerned?  Or would you prefer that your doctor take the authoritarian approach and not say anything to you for fear that it might frighten you?  


If, at the end of the day, after hearing not just me but all of the people who are going to follow—if, at the end of the day, you would prefer to be warned, then please use your power as legislators to protect the public.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Doctor.  I appreciate your testimony.


We’re going to go to the next witness and then have time for some questions of this panel—before going to the next one?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Dr. Glen Elliott. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And let me take a moment to thank our colleague, Senator Kuehl, for joining us.  She’s declined opening comments, but as always, she’s here to be an active participant in this committee, and I thank you for it.  It’s a busy day.


Welcome.


DR. GLEN ELLIOTT:  I’ve already been introduced, but let me tell you a little bit about my personal background.  I think for meetings like this it’s very important to talk about biases, as Dr. Glenmullin did.  I actually went into medicine with an explicit intent to go into psychiatry because of my interest in brain chemistry.  I have a Ph.D./M.D. from Stanford in the Medical Scientist Training Program and finished child psychiatry training in 1986.


At that point, medication use with children was almost unheard of.  It was a wonderful time to go into psychopharmacology.  There were two books and about twenty papers.  You could become an expert essentially over a weekend because the books pretty much said the same thing with each other.  We had very little information and very little hope that medicine could be very helpful for children and adolescents.  To some extent, we have improved since then, but we still are far behind the research that we have on adults for mental disorders, and it’s an ongoing concern. 


In terms of biases that I bring to the table, I believe in the appropriate use of medication for severe mental disorders in children and adolescents, and that is a struggle in both directions.  We have focused here and will be on SSRIs and antidepressants, but many other medications are now being used much more commonly in children than they were before, and as that is happening, we are discovering both the benefits and the adverse effects that might occur.


Secondly, I’ve not participated in any pharmaceutical trials of antidepressants since the mid-1980s and with none of the SSRIs; although, I am involved in drug trials in other areas, such as ADHD, and have relationships in speakers bureaus with some of the pharmaceutical companies.  So, I am aware of the potential pressures that sometimes rise with that.


I wanted to make three points to add to what Dr. Glenmullin has said.  You didn’t spend a lot of time talking about children and adolescents.  But since this came up around the British efforts with adolescents, I think there’s a perception that there’s something specific about adolescents which is raising concerns.  So far, I would say that the data—and I believe Dr. Glenmullin would agree—really does not convincingly demonstrate that there is a unique aspect to either children or adolescents that make them either safer or more at risk for whatever is going on with these medications.  It’s certainly possible that there may be age effects.  There’ve been reports, for example, that akathisia may be more common in adolescent males, and certainly we’d like to know more about that.  But, at this point, whatever decisions get made, I would certainly strongly recommend that they involve the whole age spectrum.


Where children and adolescents, of course, are different is that in addition to whatever influence they may have in decision-making, there are parents involved, and thinking about how to inform children in a developmentally appropriate way as well as parents I think is highly important and sometimes quite difficult.


There is a continuing very strong need to learn a great deal more about the medication effects on children and adolescents.  One of the debates that the British have had is not only the issue of side effects but whether adolescents may be less responsive to antidepressants.  There’s been a question of:  Even if the side effects are tolerable, should we be doing it if it’s not helping much?  That, unfortunately, is an ongoing issue in our field.  We still have so little data, and sometimes it feels like every time researchers begin studying that, we find side effects that frighten us, and we don’t want to look anymore.


So, keeping children and adolescents in mind, recognizing that the likelihood of using medication is relatively high and the need to know whether it’s safe or not and beneficial is high, I think is really crucial.


One of the cynical aspects that drug companies bring to the table, which was not mentioned earlier, is that pharmaceutical companies know that medications will be used in children even if they’re not studied.  As alluded to already, most of the medications that are used in children are off label; that is, the FDA has not endorsed their use.  You sort of modified what you were saying.  The issue of banning the antidepressants certainly in the United States, and it was my understanding in Britain as well, was a little less clear that you couldn’t use it; just that it was strongly advised that you think carefully about it since it’s off label anyway and using off-label medications may cause problems legal and otherwise.


Second point is:  Why does it happen?  Dr. Glenmullin has very nicely articulated the case for akathisia.  I just wanted to reemphasize that there are other issues that are probably effective here as well; and again, those may vary with time.  One of the things we know about adolescents is that many who later develop bipolar disorder have not done so yet and that antidepressants certainly can cause manic episodes which are often quite severe and certainly can lead to serious problems as well.


So, the call that Dr. Glenmullin had I would echo as well.  We desperately need a better understanding of when people become suicidal what happens to them.


I would disagree with Dr. Glenmullin slightly in the issue of reclassification.  I get uncomfortable when any unfortunate behavior is labeled as “suicidal.”  There are some documented cases where suicidality has included hitting your head, which, I have to tell you, my adolescent boys do on a regular basis.  Careful definition of what we mean by the terms is, I think, crucial.  I would certainly agree that redefining them later on is not the best type of research and needs to be dealt with, but there is no standard across the field about what we mean by suicidal behavior, suicidal acts.  Certainly, suicide itself is relatively well defined.  But short of that, there’s a lot of confusion.  In fact, one of the problems across different drug companies is they’re using very different definitions, and those kinds of things need to be addressed.


In terms of what can be done and what needs to be done, I have a couple of points, and then I will end.  One is that to some extent what is happening right now is what seems to have happened in the past in terms of some self-correcting.  Part of the reason I think there has been the tendency to use the SSRIs and some of the newer drugs is the sense that they’re very safe and therefore they can be used even for trivial conditions.  I think physicians are beginning to recognize, probably more slowly than we would like, that that is not the case, and helping them identify serious side effects and the possibilities of bad outcomes I’m sure will change those kind of behaviors, and that is occurring.


Secondly, I wanted to emphasize that informed consent really is a procedure, not a solution.  It can be applied in very, very bad ways.  There was a wonderful article that appeared in the San Jose Mercury News on July 25th, talking about breast implants and the joys thereof of parents giving their high school graduating daughters breast implants as graduation presents.  A side bar on that was a clip I would like to read to you.  It says, “An eighteen-year-old girl named Bellamy admits that she only pretended to read the waiver forms about possible forms of complications.  (Quote) ‘I don’t want to freak myself out so I wouldn’t read it,’ she says.”


What Dr. Glenmullin talked about at the end I completely endorse, which is the need for frank discussions with patients and families when the patients are younger of a lot of different possibilities.  A consent form may help with that, but it also may serve as a way of avoiding that discussion which I believe would be crucial to really helping, because overall, I think the most effective intervention probably requires a combination of advising parents and families what to look for and also of creating a system that allows for careful monitoring at dangerous times.  Particularly with primary care physicians, those mechanisms simply do not exist as they’re currently practiced.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Dr. Elliott.


We’re also joined by our colleague, Senator Liz Figueroa.  We appreciate the Health Committee being here in force today.


Senator Ortiz, did you have some questions you wanted to ask?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I will hold off.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I have a couple, and I want to underscore a point you made, Dr. Elliott, and agree with it; that the informed consent, which, we understand, is part of the Code of California Regulations but not uniformly applied across all patients in terms of informed consent for medical treatment, including medications like antidepressants, is a tool, but it’s not an end-all.  How it’s applied is something I want to find out more extensively.  And if any of the other witnesses to follow can tell us how they believe it is applied within county medical systems where this is the regulation to do this informed consent, but if it’s just one more piece of paper that’s shuffled around in the office that has that kind of cursory or dismissive review that you cited, it’s not helpful.  But if it’s a consultation, if it’s a verbal exchange and understanding, then it’s obviously got weight to it and information that gives one either the thought in their mind that there are risks and this behavior or this change could be associated with the medication, and before that, even being able to make an informed decision, whether you want to accept the medication or not.


The number of people with depression in the United States—I read a figure:  19 million number of people on antidepressants versus 11 million.  How do you see us sorting out who is more eligible for the antidepressants and various other types of therapy that would help them in terms of severe depression versus mild depression versus a couple of stressful incidences or months versus chronic and ongoing, major depressive disorder?  I’ve read statistics that say that perhaps only 25 or 30 percent of those that are on antidepressants may really need this form of medication.  What’s your opinion on how you get there?  And do we have ways of measuring whether someone’s serotonin levels are off before prescribing that they get a serotonin reuptake selective inhibitor?


DR. GLENMULLIN:  Actually, a lot of cases . . . [inaudible] . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to turn your mike on because the public can’t hear what you’re saying.


DR. GLENMULLIN:  A lot of patients are told when they’re put on these antidepressants that they are being treated for biochemical imbalances; that they have a low serotonin and that these drugs will increase it.  That’s actually never been proven.  It’s just a hypothesis.  The equivalent of the FDA in other countries have now banned companies from using that.  It’s basically marketing that’s been passed on to doctors to pass on to patients.  A lot of patients are very upset when they find out that that isn’t proven truth.  Most experts on the drug scoff at the idea that it’s anything as simple as that.


I think the answer to your question is that the hope would be that a written informed consent—I agree, it’s not a solution to the problem.  My hope would be that it would spearhead a real solution; that it would spearhead the kind of education and research that’s needed; that if doctors are going to be asked to use it, they’re going to ask the questions why.  They’re going to want to know the information.  They’re going to want to start to make the distinctions between mild, moderate, and severe depression that aren’t being made right now, especially in managed care settings where they’re urged in ten minutes to just give somebody a prescription.  They’re going to want to know what are the vulnerable time periods.  Patients are going to want to know.


So, my hope is that it would just heighten the level of concern because it’s really not high enough yet, despite the FDA warning.  Now, the FDA warning is very carefully worded to say that it may or may not be the drugs, and that’s sort of been the end of the effort.  There hasn’t been adequate education.  There hasn’t been a big effort to do the kind of research that we really need.


So, my hope is that the effort that you’re considering would spearhead the bigger solution to this problem.


DR. ELLIOTT:  I would agree that unfortunately there is no biologic test for deciding that somebody has bad enough depression to warrant medication.


One of the aspects of the DSM, which was mentioned earlier (the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual), which often gets ignored—at one level is kind of a cheat, but actually, it directly, I think, addresses what you’re talking about—is all of the disorders have somewhere in them a requirement of severity; that the problems not only have to be present but they have to be severe enough to be significantly interfering with life.  Again, that takes some discussion and some understanding of the patient and a sense of where they started and where they are now that often doesn’t get built into this.


So, one of the problems may well be that we have a system that’s going to be very difficult to change.  This is not going to happen in the average pediatrician visit which is seven-and-a-half minutes.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you.


We’re running short on the time for the next panel.  What I’d like to ask is—excellent testimony—if you can follow on with any additional information you have.  One of the other issues for us to consider—and if you can give us some written feedback later as we go forward to introduce the next panel—how does the evolution of the use of this class of antidepressants compare with other medications that we brought onto the marketplace—the level of science we have before marketing and having 11 million Americans using?  And what are the monitoring and studies?  You both have called for more research, and I think that’s one of the outcomes of this is to really focus on how to get that research done and how to get all the studies the pharmaceutical companies have into our hands so the science and medical community can look at that.  For instance, compared to, say, the polio vaccine, what do we know, and how much risk was there before it was widely disseminated?  Are there other medication parallels, or is this somewhat unparalleled in terms of the. . . . you know, fifteen years ago you said there was very little literature on this, and now we have a large number of young people on antidepressants.  So, if you could think further and give us some written testimony back later, we’d appreciate that.


Thank you for your time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I want the speakers to hold off for a moment because I think Senator Kuehl may have a question for one or both of you.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Thank you very much.  Sorry that I missed pieces of the presentation.  I appreciate your being here.


Two things:  About informed consent, there’s a difference—and I think the healthcare providers on the next panel may also address this—there’s a difference between information and informed consent.  Informed consent indicates to me that you’re going to recommend this drug, but you want people to know the downside of it.  Most people’s experience is, Okay, okay, okay, okay, but you say I need it, so I probably should go with it.  So, it’s a lot more in my opinion about physician discretion.


The other thing is, in the information given—and I’m sorry if you may have mentioned this, either of you—but I had understood that there was a study or some study showing that those who attempt or complete suicide do so shortly after or within a short timeframe after beginning the drug therapy.  And I wonder if part of the information has to do with expectations:  I’ll take this drug, I’ll get better.  I won’t have these symptoms—the SSRIs at least take a little while before you’re going to experience less depression if you do—and whether that’s an aspect of a warning or, you know, Don’t think this is going to work right away.  You’re going to remain the same, but things may change.  People just sort of lose hope because now they’re on a drug therapy and nothing’s gotten better.


DR. GLENMULLIN:  I don’t know if you were here in the early part of my talk when I talked about a specific side effect of these antidepressants called akathisia that typically kicks in, in the early weeks after people have started the drugs or increased the dose, and now we’re increasingly concerned about decreasing the dose and going off.  As I say, there are other antidepressant side effects that can heighten the risk of suicide.


I think what you’re pointing to is another very real part of it, especially if people start to deteriorate once they go on the drugs and don’t recognize that it could be drug related, and their doctors don’t recognize it.  It can lead to incredible despair.  So, I think that you’re absolutely right.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Let me thank the two speakers from our first panel, and you’re welcome, obviously, to stay throughout the hearing.  I appreciate your valuable information.  I’m sure you’ll be hearing from a number of our members for a follow-up. 


Let me now introduce our second panel.  And let me remind members we’re about ten to fifteen minutes behind, so I’m going to encourage all the speakers to stay on the timeline, that they’ve apparently been provided some parameters.  But we have Dr. Stephen Mayberg, who is the director of the state Department of Mental Health.  He comes to this job from county government.  Before coming to the Department of Mental Health, he directed the Yolo County Department of Mental Health and was the president of the California Mental Health Directors Association.  We welcome you, Dr. Mayberg, who has been before numerous committees before.


And we also have Dr. Neil Adams, who is the medical director of Adult Services for the state Department of Mental Health.  Dr. Adams is a physician and holds a master’s in public health as well.


And we are also joined by Dr. Pat Samuelson, a physician in family practice and the director of Mercy Clinic Norwood here in Sacramento.  She’s active in the CMA, and it was the CMA that suggested she be a witness today.  So, welcome, Dr. Samuelson.


And Dr. William Arroyo is the medical director of Los Angeles County Department of Mental Health.  Welcome.  And he serves as the medical director of the Child, Youth, and Family Administration.  In addition, he’s a clinical assistant professor of psychiatry at USC School of Medicine, where he’s been teaching for twenty-five years.  And he works in a county detention facility where he treats incarcerated youth with severe mental illness.  This year he is president of the California Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry.


And then we have Dr. Joseph Sison.  Welcome.  Dr. Joseph Sison is the director of Children’s Services for Sacramento County’s Division of Mental Health and a professor at UC Davis, Department of Psychiatry.  Also, he’s president-elect of the Central California Psychiatric Society.


And finally, Dr. Michelotti, who is the current CEO of the California Pharmacists Association and has been a practicing pharmacist.  He also holds a master’s degree in public health.


So, I think our first speaker is Dr. Mayberg.  Welcome and thank you for being here.


DR. STEPHEN MAYBERG:  Thank you, Senators.  I’m Steve Mayberg, and I’m honored to be able to be at this important hearing.  I think it begins to address the issue about how difficult it is a decision for any person to decide to go into mental health treatment, and the decision to take medication is even more complex.  And so, when these are confusing issues, we have to deal with the fact that we are in a system that has lots of stigma and lots of misinformation, and that oftentimes serves as a subtext of what happens when people go to ask for treatment and their failure to get good information because of whatever misinformation they have.


I want to talk to you a little bit about our state Department of Mental Health:  how it works, what we do, and some of our values, and I think you’ll see that they’re quite consistent with what Dr. Glenmullin and Dr. Elliott talked about.


First, we provide services in the public mental health system to individuals who are seriously mentally ill and children who have serious emotional disturbances.  Through the counties we provide most of the outpatient care and some of the twenty-four-hour acute care.  We see 660,000 individuals; 205,000 of those individuals are children.  So, about a third are children.  And the state hospital provides direct service to about 4,500 patients, and of that, only 56 are children, and about 550 of those are civilly committed.  The rest are forensics.


I think what’s important is something that Dr. Glenmullin said, is that most individuals do not enter the mental health system through mental health.  They enter through the managed care organizations, through their primary provider, through HMOs, and much of the treatment does occur at this level.  The referrals to the public mental health system oftentimes occur when a person isn’t responding to treatment or is treatment-resistant.  Dr. Glenmullin stated that 70 percent of all psychotropic medications are prescribed by primary care providers.  We find that same thing true in California; that the majority of medications are prescribed by primary care.


I think what’s important for me to talk about is the values of our California mental health system and how that may shape the services we provide a little different than in other systems.


We have a recovery orientation, and that means that we really do believe that treatment has to have a variety of approaches and really has to engage the individual and his or her support system and family in that treatment planning.  That means that treatment isn’t just medication alone.  It’s a biopsychological, social, rehabilitative approach.  Medication alone should never be a standard practice; it should be in combination with other interventions.  And I think research is very clear that in treatment of depression, medication plus psychotherapy is much more efficacious than just medication alone.


Part of that value system is that we cannot do a good job in our business unless we educate the people in our system; that education is first and foremost and that consumer and family involvement has been essential; and until we have involved consumers and families in developing our policies and protocols, we have gone down the wrong track, I think.  And so, that’s changed how we present what we do to people.


We actively support organizations to do this education information.  An example of that is the NAMI Family-to-Family Program where we have family members teach about the illness, the side effects, the symptoms of the medications, options, so they understand; so they don’t have to be blindsided by things that are happening.  And we also support our client network to be able to do the same kind of thing.  We find through peer support—medication management peer support—we’re able to get to where we want to go.


The issues we’re talking about, though, here are not California issues alone.  This is a nationwide issue.  I served on the President’s New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, and we identified that suicide was one of the unmet public health needs in our country and that it is a public health crisis, and part of what we need to address is that interface between our physical health system and our mental health system.  In that, the recommendations from this national group really talked about the importance of informed choices, education, and empowerment in decision-making.  To be able to do that we really have to have better science, better information, and, as both doctors talked about, accurate information from researchers that is not skewed or biased.  Service should be driven by science, but science should also be driven by service; that we need to be able to do continuing education and continuing research.


So, what we know is that information, education, and informed choices are essential; that practice has to be evidenced-based and research-informed.  We need to change our treatments over a period of time.  We know from our population that there needs change, and there are critical transitional times when you need more involvement rather than less involvement.  Multiple interventions are better in that all of what we do has some risk, and we need to inform that risk.


I think what’s unique about our system is we do require our system to do informed consent.  We ask and we demand and we monitor in our program compliance that informed consent is done.  And not only is it done in the sense of having people sign a paper.  We really expect that that is the genesis of a discussion about what the illness is, what the treatment is, and where you’re going to go with that.  Not to say that some people don’t just sign the paper and file it away.  


We decided that in looking at that, that one of the things we needed to require in California was that the informed consent and the informing materials had to be in the language of the person’s first language.  And so, we now require all of our outpatient county mental health programs to have all of their informed consent and all of their informing materials in the language that a person is comfortable with; what we call “threshold languages.”  So oftentimes in the past we would find an informed consent from someone who didn’t speak English, and for us it’s hard to understand how someone can give informed consent if they don’t know what someone said to them.  We are working hard to make sure that these symptoms and the side effects are in common language, not in medical terms, because many of us don’t understand the complexity of those terms.  I think what we use is a model so we understand that people with involuntary treatment probably have more rights and better information and more informed consent than people with voluntary rights.  So, we’re pushing in that direction.


While we understand that there are risks, we also understand that there are benefits, and what we’ve found, as we’ve started this debate about giving people information about medication informed consent, is it begins to change the whole treatment planning process.  It’s not just a discussion about medication.  It’s really a discussion about the whole arena of treatment and what needs to be done, and we move from an adversarial relationship, or a distant relationship, to a partnership, and only through those partnerships can we expect that we can get to where we want to go.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Dr. Mayberg.


We’ll go on to the next witness if there are no questions.


The next witness will be Dr. Adams.


DR. NEAL ADAMS:  Members of the committee and guests, it’s an honor and a privilege to address you today in my role as medical director for Adult Services with the California Department of Mental Health.


Several years ago the Institute of Medicine prepared a report, Crossing the Quality Chasm, which was highly critical of the quality of U.S. healthcare, and in response proposed a new model for thinking about quality and in that identified six primary aims or goals or properties of good care.  I want to focus on three of those today which include the importance of assuring that health services are individualized, person-centered, and safe, harkening back to the Hippocratic dictum:  Above all else do no harm.  These aims all reflect values and objectives within DMH to help to guide both policy and program.


Allow me to speak to these three concerns as we consider the issues and challenges in the treatment of depression.


I’m pleased to say, and to follow on with Dr. Mayberg, that DMH—we’ve taken active steps to assure that all aspects of the treatment process actively engage both patients and families in the process of making clinical decisions.  Careful individual assessment, individualized treatment planning, active informing of patients, providing a range of choices and options, and promoting shared decision-making are all part of standard practice and promoted as such.  This is the heart of being person-centered and ultimately enhances both effectiveness and safety.


It’s essential, I think, that we recognize depression for what it is:  a prevalent psychiatric disorder with both biological and psychosocial components—as with most modern healthcare problems, I might add—which can occur across a life span and with a high potential for disability and a significant potential for chronicity.  In a lifetime, upwards of 25 percent of the population will experience at least one episode of major depression.  Depression and its complications have been identified by the World Health Organization and others as a major international public health challenge for the coming years, both across the world and in this country.  It’s predicted to become one of the very top causes of disability and impairment by the year 2020.


Suicide can be viewed as a complication and consequence of depression.  In many respects it is a sine qua non of the problem.


Increasingly, depression is recognized as an urgent public health issue with a wide range of negative social impacts, and we should all be concerned about the tragic and preventable outcome of suicide as a primary indicator of the health of our communities.  Teenage suicide, as you know, is one of the primary causes of death in this age group and is a problem which calls out for renewed and improved efforts at prevention through identification and detection early on as well as safe and effective treatments.


Research has demonstrated effectiveness of both psychological and social and biological therapies, such as antidepressant medicines.  For some individuals, therapy is an effective approach, but for many, biological therapies succeed when nothing else works.  And yet, for others they’re either not tolerated or do not seem to work well at all, for reasons we are hard pressed to explain.


Clinical experience is that there are high levels of individual variability, both in tolerance and response to antidepressants that often confound and complicate treatment, and I think the two physicians earlier spoke to that clearly.  But it is hard, if not impossible, to identify and predict ahead of an actual treatment trial.  I think our field urgently awaits advancements in basic and clinical science which will allow us to better match individuals with specific medications and treatments.


I often say to my own patients that I think of health and wellbeing as “a blessed state of grace.”  The illness challenges us with an inevitable set of compromises and difficult choices as we consider treatment options.  All treatments inevitably involve risk.  There are no magic bullets, no panaceas.  There’s no free lunch.  These risks must be carefully balanced with risks associated with no treatment.  Not responding in many respects is really not an option.  Even psychotherapy carries with it some degree of risk, and there is no risk-free alternative.  Without question, there are some known and possibly some as-of-yet unknown risks associated with antidepressant medicines, but it’s essential that we remember that the risks of untreated depression are known and can be devastating, if not lethal.


To echo on some of what has already been said, we need to find ways to assure that providers, and most importantly consumers and family members, are fully apprised of all risks in making treatment decisions; both the risk of intervention as well as the risks associated with forgoing treatment.  Full transparency in informing is essential, and with this, patients and families can better be informed of their choices and their potential consequences.


We also need to consider the potential advantages of clearly articulated standards and guidelines of care.  These should help to inform practitioners about how best to provide patient information, dosing, and administration, as well as appropriate timeframes for monitoring and follow-up in using medications like antidepressants.  


There’ve been some recent advances in the development and dissemination of formalized medication algorithms as a strategy for improving the quality of care, enhancing safety and outcomes, and I think that these hold some promise to address the issues identified already in this hearing.  Algorithms are not just simply a set of decisions for selecting medications but I think importantly include other components.  The one I want to point to is the formal education for both patients and families provided by both physicians and support staff, and it becomes a critical component of the decision-making.  There’s no question that algorithms have their critics, and there’s been concern about undue pharmaceutical industry influence in their development.  At the same time, I think there’s also increasing evidence that a positive impact improves outcomes with their use.  


Several California county mental health programs have begun to explore the potential use of these algorithms as a way of improving and monitoring practice.  I think what’s become very important early on is that the formalized patient education components are critical to the process, and it may be the most critical element of the algorithmic approach in really defining better outcomes.  I think it moves us away from thinking simply about informed consent and begins to reshape the relationship between provider and patient in making clinical decisions.


Clearly, this committee has focused on an important issue of public health and safety.  As a practitioner and medical leader, I hope that your effort will help to support ongoing research into a variety of strategies that for each individual promote the safest and most effective treatments for depression and other mental disorders.


Thank you again for the opportunity to contribute to this important dialogue.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Dr. Adams.


We’re also pleased to be joined by Senator Escutia.  We’ll keep going with the panel if there are no questions right now.


Next will be Dr. Samuelson.


DR. PAT SAMUELSON:  Thank you.  


Although I’m actually at a particular clinic now, I have served the underserved and especially linguistically and ethnic minority populations, impoverished, almost exclusively in this community for the last twenty years, and it’s on that basis that I want to talk to you.  Although I do, too, have an academic title of clinical professor at a school of medicine, that’s not where I’m talking from.


When we talk about suicide in adults and children, we know that the risk is greatest in ethnic minority males, particularly in youth.  In older people it’s Caucasian males, but especially in young people it is predominantly those who have the least access to services of any kind.


When I got home Tuesday morning, having left Monday morning, and got my son ready because I needed to leave again to go to work, my son asked, Mom, why do you have to work all day and all night?  It’s not because there’s an excess of access to services for this very vulnerable population.  It’s not because I don’t like sleep.  When I treat a severely psychiatricly disturbed individual, that person has come to me in despair.  I did not go out on the street looking for that person.  That person came to me commonly at the end of their rope; just couldn’t go on.  I see people who are being thrown out of school, who can’t get out of bed to go to school.  People who can’t go to work.  People who have essentially not left the house without someone taking them—for years.  These people categorically do better on medication.  Are there adverse events?  Sure.  They’re rare.  I tell one hundred percent of my patients that they can have side effects to any medication.  Any person can have any reaction to any medication any time; not only akathisia—which I tend to describe more as a feeling of internal restlessness because people tend to understand that a little bit better—but anything, and they need to report those.  I tell one hundred percent of them to come back in two weeks.  Most of them do not come.  Their lives are unstable.  Transportation is unreliable.  And what we find with depression in every large study done is underdiagnosis/ undertreatment.  We see that the people who die for the most part aren’t taking the medications that were prescribed.  We know that from the autopsy studies.  The lack of access, lack of continued treatment, lack of ability to come back is a huge problem.


We know that unquestionably, psychotherapy and medication work better together.  In this area—I can’t speak for the rest of California—but I can tell you in this area that especially for the most vulnerable populations, access to psychotherapy is almost nonexistent.  When I see a child that I feel strongly needs to see a psychiatrist—and I’ll handle what I can—but when I see somebody that I feel strongly needs to see a psychiatrist, it’s taken me in the neighborhood of a year to get them into a child psychiatrist.  For an adult, I can get them into a social worker in one month who will determine whether or not they agree with me that that patient needs to see a psychiatrist, and that will occur three months later.  There is a terrible shortage.  They come to me when they can in despair, and I do inform them.  I’m not able to give them psychotherapy, and if there’s one thing that I think we could do, aside from reliable transportation, quality schooling, safe after-school care, stable employment that provides enough to live on to improve the outcome of all these problems, it would be access to psychotherapy.  


Anything, however, that puts a barrier to treatment in this population is a problem.  Already, many people won’t treat them.  Many people refer them to services that are very difficult to access and limited.  They’re excellent when you get there, but there just aren’t enough.  It’s for that reason that I am concerned about any other thing which puts a barrier to treatment, whether it’s a particular document or anything of that nature, because from my experience and from the literature, we know that underdiagnosis and undertreatment is a far greater problem.  


But the issue of Can you have a bad response?—sure.  When you treat a stroke patient, the issue of Do you give medicine or do you give physical and occupational therapy?—it’s a nonsense question.  You have to do all of them.  And can you have an adverse reaction to the drug that saves most people’s lives?  Sure.  You have to watch for it and stop it.


When we look at the drugs that we place barriers to, like Accutane—again, that’s not a lifesaving drug, of course—but we see fewer people get it than perhaps could benefit.  And I’m not arguing against it in terms of Accutane, but right now we have huge access problems, and any barrier to treatment is a huge problem from where I sit.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Doctor.  I think almost all of us here would agree with that, and many of us have worked for years fighting for additional funding and additional programs and additional services. 


As a sidebar, a political statement, there is a ballot measure—I think it’s Prop. 62—but there’s a ballot measure out there that would . . .


UNIDENTIFIED:  Sixty-three.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Prop. 63 would bring in hundreds of millions of dollars on an annual basis to provide services and intervention and prevention.  I personally am strongly in favor of that and think we’ve disgracefully underfunded mental health services for so long.


Senator Kuehl?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.


Senator, since you mentioned it, I was going to ask Dr. Mayberg—and this is the real question I don’t know the answer to—I notice that the Governor blue-penciled $20 million in the budget that we sent down to him that was children’s mental health.  I’m not conversant enough with the program that was blue-penciled to know what that was.  Do you know?


DR. MAYBERG:  The $20 million that the Governor blue-penciled was the Children’s System of Care, and that’s sort of a wraparound program.  I think in the veto message he was very clear that he thought it was an important program.  He kept the funding for working on the development of the system for the technical assistance center, hoping that there’s more funding coming.  I think that was in light of the fact that there is right now a little over a billion dollars that goes into children’s mental health care, mostly through EPSDT, which is the children’s Medi-Cal program.  So, while it was a good program, I think it was just the understanding that between 3632, which is a hundred million dollars for children, and EPSDT, which is a billion dollars, that there was some money.  It was cutting back on services, but it maintained critical services.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you for that question.


Our next witness is Dr. Arroyo.


DR. WILLIAM ARROYO:  Good afternoon.  I echo the sentiment of others:  it’s both an honor and pleasure to be here before the committees, and it’s especially a pleasure to see Senator Kuehl here who’s my representative.


It was stated that I work for L.A. County where I provide medical leadership to a very large staff around children’s mental health issues, and I also teach at USC.  But in addition, I bring the perspective of a family member.


Depression is very common in my family.  An aunt of mine was incarcerated last year for seven weeks at age 86 while she was depressed and psychotic.  She refused treatment.  Another aunt who had recurrent severe depressions did not take her SSRIs as prescribed and killed herself at age 63.  Two of my first cousins who never received treatment for their depression also committed suicide while in their thirties.  These three family suicides occurred during the past ten years.  I have a sister four years my senior who, until she started on an SSRI by a primary care doctor recently, was relegated to her bed for several days at a time.  She now enjoys spoiling her young grandchild.  My sister, however, is ashamed to tell her twin brother that she takes an SSRI.  My brother’s a dentist who has suffered from recurrent depression since childhood and increasingly talks about life not being worth living.  I fear that my brother may have a fate similar to that of my cousins and aunt.


I might add that depression in my family is complicated with co-occurring substance use disorders not unlike in many other families throughout our state.  I think my family history illustrates a little bit of some of the challenges of the California mental health directors that I am representing here today, and it also provides me a different perspective on this topic.


The California Mental Health Directors Association and its members appreciates the fact that effective treatments and psychosocial rehabilitation services for people with severe depression exist; that it’s important and necessary to inform any client of both the risks and benefits of any intervention provided; and that monitoring their responses to medications should be consistent with the unique reactions of the individual client and scientific data.  We also understand that for a myriad of reasons, people in our state are not receiving medically necessary and life-saving treatment for depression.  These include stigma, limited access (as has been stated earlier), a shortage of human resources, especially child psychiatrists, low reimbursement rates, and a poorly implemented mental health parity law:  services designed for people with only mental disorders or services designed for people with only substance abuse problems.  Lack of any insurance is another problem, among others.  National and state data suggest that people of color have higher prevalence rates of mental illness and utilize services at lower rates in the general population.


In the public sector, where I’ve devoted my career, diminishing funding to local government has resulted in marked less treatment for people with depression.  In L.A. County alone, we have scaled back services this fiscal year to a tune of $31 million.  Indigent adults with mental illness are going to be hit hardest because of this budget shortfall.  In at least a few California counties, indigent people have already been identified as being a population that will not be served by the local mental health authority because of budget shortfalls.  I have no doubt that those individuals with clinical depression, who in better economic times could have depended on the public mental health sector, will now be treated in high-cost emergency rooms for suicide attempts, become incarcerated, not unlike my aunt, resort to illicit drug usage, or simply succeed at killing themselves.


In order to eliminate the suffering of people with depression and their loved ones in the public sector, the association believes that we should:

· Refocus our efforts to increase resources at the county level in order to serve greater numbers of people with severe depression and their communities, especially the indigent population.

· Assist with strategies to increase the number of professional staff entering the mental health field; again, especially child psychiatrists.

· Enable primary care providers to provide effective treatment for depression.

· Develop systems that successfully treat people with both mental and substance abuse problems.  

· Develop an ongoing anti-stigma campaign.

· Allocate resources to prevention and early intervention.

· Launch public awareness campaigns about treatment effectiveness.

· Encourage and support research in the treatment of depression, especially in children.

· Await the analysis of the Columbia University group that is reviewing the U.S. data and have access to results of all clinical trials sponsored by pharmaceutical companies, governmental agencies, and universities.


Thank you for your time.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Dr. Arroyo, both for your expertise you’ve shared and your family experiences and your personal commitment to making change.  I appreciate the emphasis, too, on some kind of an ongoing campaign.  Part of it is having hearings like this, and part of it is the ballot proposition we spoke of a few minutes ago of dealing with the realities of mental health and mental illness and having that ongoing campaign against the stigma and against the mystery or the factors that people discriminate actually and dismiss people who act differently and have mental health problems.  So, I appreciate that ongoing campaign emphasis.  There’s a lot of other strategies to deal with, with both the depression and suicidality, and it needs a comprehensive approach.


Dr. Sison.


DR. JOSEPH SISON:  Senators, thank you for inviting me, and I’m very honored to be speaking in this forum.


The issue of suicide and depression in kids is a very important one, and I applaud this forum for exploring this very critical issue.  Whereas in the past we believed that depression was nonexistent in kids, we are now finding out that similar to adults, depression is a very real brain disorder that occurs in kids.  About 10 percent of our kids before they turn eighteen will develop depression.  We know that depression has significant social and economic costs.  Kids with depression have more frequent hospitalizations, more medical visits.  They have lower educational potential.  They have lower earning potential.  Twenty percent of teenagers with depression will develop substance abuse problems which can complicate the matters worse, such as becoming entangled with the legal system and incarceration.  Similar to adults, chemicals in the brain exist in kids that affect their mood and emotions.  Although environmental triggers can have an effect on brain physiology, these chemical imbalances can occur, and they ultimately can be the final pathway in terms of kids becoming more and more depressed.


Highly associated with depression is the risk for suicide.  Suicide is the third leading cause of death in this country amongst our young population.  One in five teenagers in the United States will seriously consider suicide, and about 9 percent of our teenagers will attempt suicide.  That’s about one million teenagers.  Additionally, up to 50 percent of teens with major depression will attempt suicide.


Although research tells us that there’s no 100 percent means of predicting who will commit suicide, we do know that depression and alcohol or illicit substance use are clearly implicated as two of the highest risk factors that can lead to someone killing themselves.  In a study done by the World Health Organization in 2002, we know that suicide is the number one means of violent deaths around the world, even when compared to homicides and war-related deaths.  We know also that the majority of those who kill themselves have depression or a mood disorder present at or near the time of their death.


So, what can we do?  Through scientific research we now have several good treatments for depression.  We know that because of the associated chemical imbalances in the brain that lead to depression, there are several antidepressant medications that have been shown to help both in adults and now some data coming out in kids.  Although there clearly needs to be more research in kids, there are, now, about 15 double-blind control studies that show antidepressants, specifically the SSRI agents, are effective in treating depression in kids.  When evaluating these 15 double-blind control studies totaling over 2,000 kids randomized to either getting a placebo (or dummy) pill versus the active drug, there have been zero deaths, suggesting that according to these double-blind control trials, which are the gold standards when evaluating medication effects, there does not appear to be a link between these agents and suicide.  Additionally, autopsy studies reveal that the majority of kids and adults who kill themselves have untreated depression.  Of those depressed adults and kids who end up killing themselves, the majority of those who succeeded in the suicide actually were not taking their antidepressant medications.  


Lastly, there is good worldwide epidemiological evidence that over the past fifteen years, since the start of SSRI treatments in kids, there actually has been a 30 percent drop in actual suicides.  This is data collected by the World Health Organization where they found that after thirty years of increasing suicide rates, the rates actually dropped over the past fifteen years by 33 percent, since the advent of treating kids with SSRIs.


The FDA has recently come out with some advisories regarding depression and suicide.  One of the recommendations is to remind treating professionals that depression has a long-time course and that depression in itself can worsen, even when the treatment has already started.  I think it’s important for all us treatment providers to continue to evaluate the disorder regularly and to continue to ask about suicide and about suicide behaviors in our patients.


Another recommendation from the FDA is to consider the potential diagnosis when evaluating the depression, in that other psychiatric and medical disorders can mimic major depression.  For example, patients with bipolar depression may actually worsen and become more agitated when treated with an antidepressant medication.


A final advisory from the FDA is to keep in mind that medications, regardless of whether they are antidepressants or anti-cancer or anti-hypertension agents, have in themselves the potential for side effects that require ongoing evaluation and follow-up.


So, in summary, depression is real, and it exists in kids.  Suicide is real and is a fatal complication of inadequately treated depression.  Appropriate and adequate diagnosis is important in this disorder, and this disorder can get worse and can lead to suicide behaviors.  Additionally, there appears to be growing evidence that there are effective medication treatments in kids.  However, just like with any other medications, potential side effects need to be monitored closely.  So, really, education is very, very important in terms of treating children and with regards to depression and monitoring their suicidality.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Dr. Sison.


We’re going to take questions to the entire panel after our last witness.  Next is Dr. Carlo Michelotti.


DR. CARLO MICHELOTTI:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, committee, Senators, for having us here today.


I’m here today to address this very important topic from the healthcare provider perspective, specifically that of the community pharmacists.  In a letter of invitation, I was asked to provide testimony on the role pharmacists play in informing patients regarding these issues.  In my allotted five minutes, I plan to do exactly that.


Departing from my prepared text for just thirty seconds—in the packets of materials that I sent you, I want to reemphasize some of the materials that the colleagues here on this panel have mentioned.  Just putting some numbers, some actual numbers, to some of the testimony you’ve just heard from the doctors that preceded me—and this information is the from the National Institutes of Mental Health, and it’s quite shocking—suicide accounts for more than 30,000 American deaths every year.  Thirty thousand deaths.  As my colleague here said, it’s the third leading cause of death after accidents and homicides among people age 15 to 24.  That’s a specific group.  Everybody knows a teenager who’s unhappy with absolutely everything in life and all the issues that go with that.  Well, it’s alarming to hear these kinds of statistics.  Healthcare providers often miss the warning signs because patients hide suicidal intent very successfully.  They know how to do this, and particularly children.  Teenagers are very crafty about hiding the fact that they are in fact depressed.


Here’s the one that really surprises me:  60 percent of people who commit suicide have seen a physician within a month of their death.  Sixty percent have seen a physician within a month of their death.  Isn’t that interesting?


And finally, another 60 percent—it’s a different sixty, but it is 60 percent—of adolescents and young adults think about suicide at some point.  Most of these thoughts usually pass, but the point is that 60 percent of these children do have suicidal ideation or at least some expression of I want to hurt myself, I want to kill myself, or whatever it might be.


Getting back to my prepared remarks:  Antidepressants generally, and certain of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (the SSRIs), are being used to treat a wide variety of disorders in an increasing level of popularity among the healthcare community.  The question of Why? can be answered very easily by:  Because they work!  This is particularly the case among the younger children with conditions of panic attacks to obsessive/compulsive disorders, to the classical major depressive disorder known as MDD.


Epidemiological evidence suggests that 5 to 8 percent of adolescents suffer from depression.  The drug products in the SSRI category work extremely well, are relatively safe (i.e., they do not create a dependency in the classic sense of that), and generally, most side effects can be reasonably dealt with.  That’s why the general practitioner is the family primary care, folks.  The pediatricians are using these products because, as we heard earlier, it’s nigh on to impossible to get a kid into a mental health system where they’re seen by a psychiatrist.  You bring the kid to a pediatrician, and the pediatrician has to accommodate whatever healthcare system.  They’re seen by a social worker who then makes a triage in judgment call to be seen by a psychologist who then makes an appointment with the psychiatrist, and I’m not at all surprised that it takes a year to get that child from a pediatrician trying to deal with the difficult depression in an eleven- or twelve- or thirteen-year-old to the point where a psychiatrist is making an evaluation and perhaps prescribing an SSRI.  That’s why outside of a health system—and let’s use the name Kaiser—outside of that kind of a system in a straight fee-for-service system the primary care physician chooses to make a primary diagnosis and prescribe an SSRI—because he or she feels relatively safe that, yes, there are problems, as it’s been articulated here, but generally speaking, those are responsible.


That dark side that I mentioned—suicidal ideation—occurs at certain points:  very early in the patient’s new therapy, the first ten days, as you and I have talked on the phone—the first ten days—and those undergoing a change.  Whether the dosage is going up or down, there’s a change.  Or the abrupt cutting off of therapy; you know, the folks who don’t continue their medication when they’re supposed to.  And the whole issue is this neurotransmitter, this chemical, that’s at the synapse in the brain.  The serotonin, this chemical that’s there, either gets a push upward or a push downward.  It doesn’t make any difference; it seems to affect how the patient perceives him or herself—the depression, the suicidal ideation, and so forth.


My purpose here is to bring to the committee and the task force’s attention that there’s a widespread and available and accessible network of educated and trained members within the healthcare provider team which is ready, willing, and able to be utilized, and that, in fact, is being utilized today, to help patients, parents, and the physicians to deal with the risk of such tragic consequences.  Those persons, ladies and gentlemen, are the pharmacists practicing in community pharmacies throughout the state and indeed the nation.


Every new prescription that is dispensed in California and every refill prescription with a change in dosage is required by law to have a pharmacist consultation to the patient and/or caregiver picking up the prescription.  The usual person that is consulted in this scenario described above is the mother of the child.  The pharmacist has the expertise to discuss the use of the medication, to reemphasize that which the prescriber has spoken, and to alert the patient or the caregiver to the side effects to look for, risks to know about, and other medications, both prescription and over-the-counter, including herbals, either to avoid or know that they might affect such therapy with the new agent.


For example, you mentioned earlier, Senator Torlakson, Accutane.  This is a focused drug for this age group.  Disfiguring acne is fairly common in that 15- to 24-year-old group.  The hormones change, and you get this acne.  Well, interestingly enough, Accutane causes an intracranial hypertension.  It’s benign usually, but it causes depression.  This pressure causes depression.  Now, the kid’s depressed; he’s got acne—he’s depressed because he’s got the acne—and he goes to the doctor, the primary care physician, who says, You know, I’m going to prescribe an SSRI.  Now you’ve just compounded the problem.  You’ve got an SSRI and you’ve got acne treatment with the Accutane working in different kinds of chemical modalities but both one affecting the other.  So, that’s a prescription drug versus another prescription drug.


You’ve got the nonprescription drug.  One of the drugs of abuse these days is dextromethorphan—cough pills—the antihistamine with the cough suppressant.  Dextromethorphan is also a drug that affects the level of serotonin, but nobody really pays much attention to that.  You know, you get your prescription filled, and then you go down aisle fourteen and you get your Coricidin.  Whether it’s for a real nasal congestion or it’s a recreational drug of abuse doesn’t make any difference.   What have you got?  You’ve got another depression.  Somebody needs to be aware of that.

The third thing is with herbals.  You know, you’ve got Gingko that’s supposed to make you think better and remember more.  That’s also one of those kinds of issues.


So anyway, at the pharmacy is a point of contact.  These pharmacists are out there.  They’re knowledgeable from some of the materials, the background information they have.  They’re knowledgeable, they’re available, and they’re accessible.


Finishing up here—the pharmacist as well, as I just said, is well served with timely information to assist him or her for these facts.  The manufacturers of the drug products provide FDA-approved literature that is part of their advertising programs, and I think I’ve provided you with copies of this same material.  Very attractive pictures and so forth, but the text that I outlined there really tells you that. . . . and this was at the FDA’s instigation, by the way.  Further, there’s professional literature which many, if not most, pharmacists subscribe which can assist the patient consultation function; the so-called Pharmacist’s Letter, arguably the best known and respected of these literature sources—and you’ve gotten copies of that too as well on this specific topic.  I’ve provided copies.  Indeed, many chain pharmacy organizations provide subscriptions to the Pharmacist’s Letter to their entire employee pharmacist team so they can easily keep up to date on important healthcare and drug therapy management issues.


And with the chair’s permission, I’ll leave some of this allotted time to respond to questions.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Dr. Michelotti.  I appreciate that.  You covered a lot of ground in a short time.  I appreciate that.


We’d also like to welcome Senator Gloria Romero who’s joined us.  Thank you for joining us.


This is just for a brief response, and Dr. Samuelson commented on it, partly through your own testimony.  With what you know—and there’s some debate because we don’t have all the information from the clinical studies or the pharmaceutical companies—but the JAMA recently (the medical journal) came out with this first nine to ten days being a risky period when you start an SSRI antidepressant.  Given the point that Dr. Samuelson gave that some individuals, particularly among the indigent and the county patients, aren’t going to be coming back to the system for monitoring, what would you each recommend in terms of the timeframe?  Should there be a monitoring during that first week or two weeks; another visit to the doctor?  What signs should that individual or family caregiver look for during that first nine to ten days where, apparently, the risk is thirty to forty times greater for suicide than it is when you’re on the medication for several months at a steady pace?


Who would like to start?  Dr. Sison?


DR. SISON:  I can tell you what we do in our clinic.  It’s a county mental health clinic, and we monitor the side effects very closely.  A follow-up once starting antidepressants usually is within two weeks.  Again, the idea is that for the first couple of weeks, it’s really important to monitor the depression because the depression can get worse; not necessarily related to the medication in itself but related to the actual disorder.  Likewise, we inform the parents that there are potential side effects of these medications in addition to the actual worsening of the depression:  You could watch out for agitation and increased anxiety, et cetera, which the FDA has made the recommendation to do.  


So, we inform the parents, we inform the child, and we see them in about two weeks.  In our clinic we’re able to do that.  As a psychiatrist, we’re able to do that, but I’m not sure if primary care physicians do the same thing.  


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you.


Dr. Arroyo?


DR. ARROYO:  Well, this might be a little bit repetitive, but clearly, every adult and a parent of a child needs to be informed of possible side effects; the minor ones with the more serious ones.  Sometimes phoning in, either phoning to the home or the individual client phoning in on a regular basis during the initial period, might be the way to go.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Dr. Michelotti?


DR. MICHELOTTI:  In the case of pharmacy, I think that pharmacy kind of follows up on the physician, whether it be the primary care or the clinic or the psychiatric prescriber, and that is that the patient and parent have heard from the prescriber the things to look for.  Then they bring the prescription to the pharmacy, get it dispensed, and, at that point, there is that second consultation.


Now, in my experience, what I counsel, and what I have told my colleagues to counsel, is Watch out for irritability; watch out for restlessness, changes in appetite, those things.  The close of that conversation is Get back to me.  Let me know how you’re doing in a few days.

You know, as we pointed out, as everybody has pointed out here, it’s the first ten days or so of therapy that’s the highest risk, and then it diminishes down to when you finally get out to ninety days or, in fact, a year or years.  But, you know, without scaring the patient and the family away from therapy, there has to be a communication that’s diplomatic but that everyone involved understands the focus and the seriousness of what’s there.



I was telling a person in the audience earlier while we were waiting for this meeting to start, I said, Think about this.  It’s Saturday afternoon.  Young Molly, thirteen years old, who has just in the last several days been prescribed Prozac.  The only SSRI that’s appropriate for all the disorders for that age group.  She wanders into the local chain pharmacy and wanders back to the pharmacy counter and says to the clerk there, ‘Can I talk to Elizabeth back here?’


‘Okay, just a minute, honey.’ 


Elizabeth, the pharmacist, comes out.  ‘What’s the matter?’


‘You know, since I’ve been taking this medication, I don’t sleep well.’  And you can see the kid is sweating, and it’s not hot out today.  And she says, ‘I feel like I want to hurt myself.’

Now, what the heck can you do on a Saturday afternoon?  Are you going to say, Well, bring in your mother, and we’ll get you an appointment back to your clinic, and so forth?  That’s a real, live situation.  It happens to be one that’s real.


That’s not to say that the pharmacist is playing psychiatrist or physician.  That is to say that they’re part of the healthcare team.  They are the available, accessible person that can help, and they’re there.  That kid couldn’t walk into I don’t care what other healthcare facility and say I want to see Elizabeth.  That ain’t going to happen.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Doctor.  


I want to get response from the other panelists.  I want to pursue one thing, though.  I’d appreciate the Pharmacists’ Association in general wishing to and working to expand your role in providing good information to all consumers on the medications.


DR. MICHELOTTI:  Well, Senator, with due respect, when we talk about expanding the role, that is taking on the role that we have been charged with.  It’s been a long, long time since pharmacists count and pour really, really quickly.  You know, the educational background that pharmacists have these days, and particularly the upgrading of the continuous continuing education about issues such as this, it’s really an important part of the healthcare delivery system.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Absolutely, and I agree with that.


On the case of the hypothetical, or the real with the different name—hypothetical Molly—what should the pharmacist do at that point?  If there potentially is a risk of suicide or ideation that could lead to suicide, what do you do on that situation?


DR. MICHELOTTI:  Well, they don’t know that at that point.  The only thing they know is they have this child in front of them and they can’t be swept away.  That child needs some time.  The parent needs to be contacted.  The child needs to be reinforced as best they can.  Sometimes it’s just a matter that someone cares; someone is listening to them.  But certainly you can’t let that kid walk away.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  One last thing to the pharmacist’s perspective.  A patient comes in—a client comes in.  Their prescription has lapsed a week-and-a-half or two weeks back.  They appear agitated—some of the symptoms you described, which could be the Echinacea or could be some of the symptoms that other doctors have described today.  Should the pharmacist on that Saturday afternoon fill the prescription or not?  Does the pharmacist ask, Have you talked to your psychiatrist about your lapse?  Is there a warning flag that goes up to the pharmacist at that point that there’s been a lapse and there could be a danger/risk period?


DR. MICHELOTTI:  Yes, late refills are really a problem, the same as early refills.  In both instances, I’ve counseled my pharmacist friends and members of our association that they need to get a hold of the prescriber.  You know, you present the issue Saturday afternoon.  It could be the Fourth of July weekend or whatever it is.  It makes good professional sense to me to make sure that there’s at least enough doses to get by until the prescriber’s available.  But under every circumstance, there has to be a communication back to the prescriber.  Remember, the pharmacists are there to be a part of the team.  They are not to take the place of the primary care or the psychiatrist.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Senator Romero, I think, had a question.


SENATOR GLORIA ROMERO:  Thank you.  I apologize for coming in late.  I was across the hall at a Rules Committee hearing.  Dr. Arroyo, in fact, it’s very good to see you here.  I’d like to direct my questions specifically to you.


Across the hall we were doing the confirmation for the new director of the California Youth Authority.  We’ve got one facility in California—it’s in Ventura—where we have an authority that’s specific for female offenders in California.  The fastest growing group that is being now committed to the Youth Authority amongst women are Latinas.  In fact, it was indicated across the hall that about 80 percent of female offenders in California have mental health issues/concerns.  There may be substance abuse, there may have been sexual abuse, et cetera.  And then, of course, there’s factors of family, perhaps immigration status, cultural issues, et cetera.  And so, I was very curious when I saw you.  Again, too, L.A. County is the number one contributor to our juvenile offender program in California.


Just out of curiosity, have you looked at the question at all of female offenders, specifically Latinas, with respect to depression, risk for suicide? because we’ve seen more and more of these in our Youth Authority, unfortunately.


DR. ARROYO:  We’re developing more specialized programs in Los Angeles County for female young inmates.  This was in large part, through the help of the JJCPA fund, which you might know was a Schiff-Cardenas bill, and it was through that funding a few years ago that we actually started launching something we should have launched a long, long time ago, and that was gender-specific related services for girls primarily that addressed issues like abuse.  Many of the youth who are incarcerated that are girls have been abused.  We have other specialized services, both within the institutions but also in the community.  I must say that it’s probably not enough.  We have a ways to go, but we have been developing some.


SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you for that response.  To the earlier question, and then we’ll wrap up, do you have any brief response further—the other panelists—on the question of monitoring or follow-up with the prescriber?


DR. SAMUELSON:  Yes.  I think it’s certainly been known for twenty years, since I was in training, that the maximum period of likelihood of suicide is right after starting treatment and changing dose and very likely related to the underlying disease and the reason that you started or were changing your dose.


The problem of follow-up is everyday people who present to the doctor, many of them don’t agree that they have a psychiatric illness.  They think they’re worthless people or that life is not worth living in itself and don’t recognize that it’s a symptom of an illness.  For those people who accept that they have a psychiatric illness and are anxious to embrace treatment and believe in the hope of treatment, those are the ones you’re typically going to get a successful referral on.


For those of us who deal with the rest of the patients—those who accept the stigma of treatment, who think that it’s disgraceful to have a treatment, that they should be able to talk themselves out of it—even trying to get them back is difficult.  One hundred percent of our patients are advised to return within a week or two or at least call.  One hundred percent of those missed appointments, at least in my office, get a letter:  Why weren’t you here?  Make an appointment.  Despite the limitations that people don’t come back when I say they should and when I know they should, nonetheless, we see dramatic responses:  suicide rates falling, improved school performance, all those things.  So, while it’s important to try to do it perfectly, these are agents that allow us to help people even when we don’t do it perfectly, which is most of the time.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you.  Appreciate it.  Anything further from the panel?


DR. ADAMS:  Sure.  I would just build on some of the other comments I made about the importance of individualized approaches.  We talk about two weeks is kind of the clinical standard, but I think it’s really important to recognize that there’s some people who probably need to be seen on an everyday or every-other-day basis in the early stages of treatment.  Others will do just fine with two weeks.


I think the other thing I would emphasize is it’s really important to take that vision of a therapeutic alliance and a partnership between the provider and the individual and the family and breathe life into that.  They really need to be active participants and partners in the healing and therapeutic process so that they feel empowered to trust their own judgment.  If something’s going amiss, if something’s going awry, if they have a question about something, then to really act on that and to seek additional help, to seek out a pharmacist, to seek out the psychiatrist on call or go to the emergency or on-call center that’s nearby.


The last thing I would add is that I think we probably still underutilize technology, and I think we need to open up the avenues by which patients can communicate with us.  So, email, web access, phone, fax, walking into a pharmacy on expanded hours, et cetera.  I think we need to deal with access in a whole host of ways and utilize technology better.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I want to thank each and every one of the panelists.  We must move on.  Thank you for your expertise and thank you for your professional work.


The next is the legal perspective panel.  Karen Barth Menzies is joining us, and Astrid Meghrigian, and we’re pleased you’re both with us.  Karen Barth Menzies is an attorney and shareholder of the firm Baum Hedlund which has offices in Los Angeles.  It’s one of the three firms nationally that specializes in SSRI legislation.  And Ms. Meghrigian is from the California Medical Association.


Welcome to both of you.


Would you like to start, Karen?


MS. KAREN BARTH MENZIES:  Thank you very much.


First, I’d like to thank the committee and Senator Torlakson for inviting me here today to speak.  I understand and appreciate the intention behind these hearings is to provide information, both to patients, parents, and doctors, about the dangers of these drugs.


What I’m here to tell you, and I think the role that I can do in speaking today, is if I get one message across, I would like to get the message across that you do not have nearly, not even close, to all the information that the drug companies know about the risks of these drugs.  Not any one of the doctors that we’ve heard today has even close to the information, to the evidence, that these drugs can cause suicide and violence.  Instead, that information is hidden within internal documents.  The only way we’ve even been able to see—and I think it’s the tip of the iceberg—that damning evidence is through the lawsuits.  However, there’s been many lawsuits, and I don’t know that the assembly realizes actually how many, and that’s another reason I’d like to come talk to you about today.  But those internal documents remain confidential and under seal, in large part due to the settlements that are reached in the litigation.


I represent thousands of SSRI victims.  A hundred of those individuals involve cases that have suicide or suicide attempts.  About half of those hundred cases, I would say, involve children.  We’ve been litigating lawsuits specifically related to SSRI suicide for fourteen years now.  At the FDA hearing last February, I made the comment that I asked the FDA if they would please effectively warn—effectively and fully warn—about the suicide risk and the violence risk related to the SSRIs.  I asked them to do so, so they could please put me out of business.


I’m coming here to you today with one arm tied behind my back.  The documents that I’ve seen I can’t give to the doctors that we’ve just heard from.  I would love to, but they’re under seal, and they’re under court order, so I can’t violate those orders.  But what I can try to do today is give you an idea of how many cases have been going forward so you have a more accurate perception of how many people have been very seriously harmed.  


As I said, the litigation’s been going on for fourteen years.  It started back in the early 1990s with Prozac.  In the early 1990s, there was over 150 cases filed in federal courts across the country.  The federal system actually had to use the procedural methods that they have to coordinate those cases due to the sheer numbers of them.  Right now there’s also a Paxil MDL that’s pending.  Thousands of individuals have filed claims related to their withdrawal and dependence from Paxil.  In the early 1990s, Zoloft and Paxil were approved, and shortly thereafter litigation emerged as well.  So, the litigation certainly has not been limited to Eli Lilly.  But even the course of these hundreds of lawsuits, only three lawsuits have ever gone to trial.  The first two, in fact, have been tainted by suspicions of secrecy, concealment by the drug companies, and fraud.  Dr. Glenmullin mentioned to you the first case earlier that occurred in Kentucky, and he told you how the judge found out that before the jury came to its verdict, the plaintiff and the defendant (Lilly) had entered into a secret settlement.  One of the agreements of that settlement is that the plaintiff would not be presenting some of the most damaging evidence against Lilly, which included, for example, that Lilly had previously been charged criminally for withholding evidence about deaths related to one of its other drugs from the FDA.  That never was seen by the jury.


As Dr. Glenmullin told you, the judge took that case up to the Kentucky Supreme Court, and I have to quote the supreme court and what they found in looking at what occurred during that trial:  “There was a serious lack of candor with the trial court, and there may have been deception, bad faith conduct, abuse of the judicial process, and perhaps even fraud.”  As you know, the judge withdrew the defense verdict in favor of Lilly in that case and entered the case as “dismissed for settlement purposes.”  The settlement value remains secret, although I’ve been told by very reliable sources that the amount was in excess of $20 million.


The second Prozac case to go to trial occurred in 1999 in Hawaii.  It involved a man who was in his sixties who was on Prozac for about eleven days and killed his wife of thirty-five years with a serrated steak knife.  He stabbed her fifteen times, and then he flung himself on top of a butcher knife.  He killed himself.  That again was a defense verdict for Lilly, but shortly after that verdict, again there became concerns about fraud on the part of Lilly for failing to conceal damaging evidence.  The evidence in that case that was withheld from the plaintiffs was the fact that Lilly, for multi-millions of dollars, had paid for the exclusive licensing rights to a new and improved Prozac, one that claimed to not have the side effects of suicide and violence.  The plaintiffs in that case followed up with the fraud on the court case.  It was a companion case.  While the defense verdict was up on appeal, both of those cases during that appeal were resolved—were settled.


The last of the three cases—the most recent one was in Wyoming in 2001 involving a man who was on Paxil for two days.  He killed his wife, his daughter, and his infant granddaughter and then himself.  This time the jury found that Paxil was the approximate cause of the triple homicide and suicide and awarded the plaintiffs over $6 million in compensatory damages, finding against GlaxoSmithKline.  Again, that case went up on appeal and was settled.


You’ll note that all these cases that have gone to trial include the homicide element to them.  This is an ugly fact that the pharmaceutical companies have taken very strong efforts to avoid coming out in the public.  The internal documents show, though, that the SSRIs can cause very severe and bizarre, violent behavior.  And this is in people who have never exhibited any kind of violent behavior in the past.  We’re not even talking about depressed people.  Again, the common thread is timing.


I heard Dr. Samuelson say today that she asks her patients to come back within two weeks.  Everybody I just mentioned, they were dead before two weeks were up.


I’m currently representing a young man who, at the age of twelve, killed his grandparents and then burned the house down.  He was on Zoloft for a total of about three-and-a-half weeks, but three days before the homicides, his dose was doubled.


In this case it’s a perfect example of what we know that Lilly, GlaxoSmithKline, and Pfizer do, at least in criminal cases around the country.  They basically blanket the nation’s prosecutors’ offices with what’s called “the prosecutors manual.”  What’s in the prosecutors manual is the one-sided story of how safe and effective these drugs are.  Their objective is to ensure convictions so that the reputation of their drugs is protected at all costs.


I receive at least one call a week from someone who’s incarcerated or who is up for a sentencing hearing or who is being charged with a violent crime while they were taking one of these medications.


As I mentioned, the majority of the remaining civil cases never reached trial because they were resolved; and again, “resolved” is the code name for “settle.”  These settlements and the efforts by the drug companies, including concealing evidence from the medical profession, from the regulators themselves, and through the prosecutors manual, are some of the serious reasons why the severity and prevalence of this important health risk is not realized publicly.


I’d like to also comment on the meaning of “FDA approval.”  I need to dispel the myth that’s widely held that the FDA, once it approves the drug, it means the drug is safe, and for that I’ll use the FDA’s own words.  I quote:  “When a drug goes to market, we, the FDA, know everything about its safety.”  Wrong.  This is an exhibit—not very good—but that’s what it says from the FDA, and it’s been used in trial before to show that the FDA itself admits that because it’s approved doesn’t mean they’ve tested and understand the safety matters of the drug fully.


The FDA does not conduct its own independent research of the drugs.  To think otherwise is a dangerous misconception.  In fact, the opposite is true.  The pharmaceutical companies are the source of virtually all the information that the FDA receives regarding a drug, both for its effectiveness and its safety.  In fact, the FDA does not even have access to all of the data that the drug companies have developed for these medications.  The drug companies design the studies, and they hire the researchers who conduct them.  The design of these studies are not to test the safety of the drug; certainly not to test a specific side effect of the drug either.  The studies that we have on these drugs right now really are designed in a way to maximize their chance of approval.  The FDA cannot require the drug companies to go back and do a specific study; for example, whether an SSRI can cause suicide or violence.


One of the courts has acknowledged the FDA’s inability to effectively really police this area by stating that numerous congressional investigations have demonstrated that the FDA has often approved drugs in complete ignorance of critical information relating to the hazards of such drugs which was contained either in their own files or even in published literature, or both. 


Another dangerous misconception about the SSRIs themselves is that they have a significant preventative effect on suicides.  I’ve seen, and now today have heard again, references of some carefully selected data that supposedly shows that suicide rates are dropping in regions where these drugs are being used.  First of all, this is not scientifically gathered data.  It is improper to jump to such conclusions before that data is even analyzed.  And more importantly and more scientifically, the actual evidence of the data we do have fails to show that suicide is prevented by the use of these drugs.  Indeed, according to a comprehensive study of the clinical trial database of all of these drugs which was conducted by Dr. Arif Khan from the University of Washington, he found that there was no evidence that the SSRIs prevented suicide.  In fact, Dr. Khan noted one striking finding was the elevated rate of completed suicides for patients during these trials.  This was particularly surprising in light of the attempt in most of these clinical trials to exclude patients who were previously suicidal.  


Getting back to my involvement with the cases, my firm receives up to twenty calls per day of individuals who are complaining about drug-induced suicide or family members who have become victims because their family member killed themselves while taking an SSRI.  I don’t need to tell you the math, but that’s over a hundred a week sometimes.  Obviously, we can’t represent them all, so there’s a lot of people out there that are not properly defended.


I’ve even gotten calls, numerous calls now, from doctors who are seeking advice on how to deal with their patients when they’re exhibiting these bizarre behaviors.  When doctors have to go to plaintiffs for medical information, we know that something is severely wrong.  These doctors need more information.  They need full information.  They need the information that the drug companies have and have known about this risk since the 1980s, before approval.  That’s what the internal documents show.  That’s what the evidence shows.  Unfortunately, it’s been concealed effectively by the drug companies still today, fourteen years later.


The pharmaceutical companies through their influenced and well-connected experts and even the FDA will argue that untreated depression causes suicide and violent acts.  We’ve heard this from pretty much everyone on our healthcare panel today.  To those people I have to ask:  Why do you fight against giving doctors more information?  Do you not want to know the bad sides of these drugs?  Would you not be better prepared to treat your patients not only more safely but more effectively if you knew the whole picture?  No one here is denying that depression is not serious.  Full education about the SSRIs themselves will actually improve your ability to treat these patients.


In closing, I again think this is a great step by this committee to consider doing something that will further pressure and prompt more information to be given to both parents, patients, and doctors.  A real, accurate, and effective warning was what I was talking about when I asked to be put out of business.  With this type of warning, lives will be saved and lawsuits will become unnecessary.  Again, I cannot imagine why anyone here, including those who will have had success with the SSRIs, which I know we’re going to hear about today, could possibly object.  Why would they possibly object to doctors and parents being told the whole story?  The medical profession should be demanding that the drug companies give them this information.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you for your testimony, Ms. Barth Menzies.


We’ll hear from Astrid Meghrigian, and then I’d like to ask a question in terms of the total number of cases we think might be out there, either that have involved, to your knowledge, the CMA or what you’re experiencing in the private sector.


MS. ASTRID MEGHRIGIAN:  I actually was not going to testify on that issue at all, so if you want to complete your line right now while it’s fresh, that’s fine.


MS. MENZIES:  So, we’re looking for the number.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Just roughly.  I mean, it’s been how many years?  Fourteen years?


MS. MENZIES:  Fourteen years.  Obviously, I don’t represent all the clients out there.  It’s at least in the hundreds.  Like I said, the Prozac MDL itself was about . . . 


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  MDL is . . . ?


MS. MENZIES:  The Multi-District Litigation.  I believe it was a total of 164 individual cases, that body of litigation alone.  There were Prozac cases that went forward in state courts apart from the MDL.  There’s also been a great deal of cases brought against GlaxoSmithKline and Pfizer that are either currently pending or have settled.  Unfortunately, I can’t give you a better number.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Now, are these cases the ones that are on the allergic and withdrawal issues combined with the suicide and violent cases?


MS. MENZIES:  No.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  You’re talking about the suicide and violent cases.


MS. MENZIES:  Yes.  I’m only talking about the suicide cases.  The withdrawal cases—thousands.  I represent about 4,000 people myself.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Could you comment on the New York case—Attorney General Spitzer’s case?


MS. MENZIES:  Yes, I can.  I’m actually familiar with a lot of the evidence that is being referred to in those complaints.  In fact, my firm has filed a similar complaint against Pfizer as well as GlaxoSmithKline with allegations similar to those and even stronger allegations.  I can tell you, from what I’ve seen in the evidence that we’ve obtained through the suicide and withdrawal cases, we know that we can prove what we’ve alleged, and I anticipate the discover we get through the course of that litigation will reveal even more.  We invite state involvement in those cases.  I think it is far beyond the individual issue.  It is very much a public issue and a concern.



SENATOR TORLAKSON:  And in terms of the attorney general’s lawsuit in New York, in your knowledge of similar circumstances, the allegation is that a number of studies, internal clinical studies, were withheld from the FDA, withheld from the sales personnel or the pharmaceutical companies so that doctors weren’t being given the full story.


MS. MENZIES:  Yes.  The clinical trials themselves—the drug companies are required to give a certain amount of information on their studies to the FDA, and that doesn’t include all the raw data.  As I talked about earlier, the FDA itself doesn’t necessarily have the means to be able to test even the data that they do have.


What I can tell you, for example—I can’t give you specifics because the documents are under seal—but what I can tell you as an example is that in times where the FDA had a concern that there was a suicide risk related to children with Pfizer, for example, they prompted their question to Pfizer and said, you know, We’ve been looking at these studies, and we’re a little concerned.  Could you please explain what’s going on here?  And what you don’t see behind the scenes is that Pfizer considers that inquiry and figures out how best, for commercial purposes, to respond to that inquiry.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  And finally, on the New York case, the specific allegations are that out of maybe five clinical studies, a number were withheld from the FDA and the public.  Is that true?


MS. MENZIES:  The full data of those studies were withheld.  That’s correct.  And unpublished.  Also, it’s important, too, that the fraud that they’re alleging in that complaint goes beyond just the studies as well.  It was how those studies were presented to the FDA and in particular to the public through the journal articles and through promoting the drug to the doctors.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Again, thank you for your testimony.  Appreciate it.


MS. MENZIES:  Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Astrid.


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  Thank you.  


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Welcome.  Good afternoon.


MS. MENZIES:  Thank you for the opportunity to be here.  Thank you for pronouncing my name quite well, I might add.


In any event, I’m not going to discuss the issues that she just raised.  I really wanted to talk about the barriers to care and whether the use of a written informed consent requirement would further the provision of quality care or be an impediment to it.  Regretfully, CMA believes the latter.


California law already imposes obligations upon physicians to obtain a patient’s informed consent.  The doctrine compels that a physician give a description of the treatment, its benefits, its risk, and any available alternatives that would be considered material for a reasonably prudent patient.


The consent doctrine is a process.  It is a discussion.  It is a give and take.  It is questions and answers.  We’re concerned that the giving of a form alone will not be an adequate substitute for the effective and important communication process that’s supposed to go on between a physician and patient.  In fact, studies from Britain have demonstrated that patients that do sign informed consent forms don’t really understand what is going on with their healthcare.  We heard the example from the Mercury News, which I thought was pretty appalling.


Studies have also confirmed that physician time with their patients in providing direct patient care activities is severely constrained due to the administrative burdens that physicians in private practice are having.  These are not county physicians that have a paycheck and are able to provide care to the patients that come.  These are doctors trying to make a living, survive in California, have six to ten managed care contracts, have to deal with the billing requirements, the administrative requirements of each of them, as well as the Medicare program and hopefully the Medi-Cal program.  And time is constrained.  The studies are saying physicians need more time, not less time, to provide direct patient care; to spend time with their patients, ensuring that they receive appropriate and effective services, including mental health services.  


So, what we believe is that there needs to be the removal of barriers to allowing physicians to provide care and to actually allow them to provide treatment and appropriate follow-up, not the creation of additional barriers.


Just as a practical matter, we have problems with the informed consent requirement in terms of it being in written form.  We feel that a written document actually hurts patient care, as well from a legal perspective and from a litigation perspective.  First, it could potentially shield physician liability.  So, to the extent that the physician actually just handed off the form and it was signed but there was no discussion—I mean, that’s not a good thing for patients either.  Secondly, it actually could expose physicians to unfair lawsuits.  I mean, physicians could go through an entire discussion and have the give and take that the doctrine requires and be sued unfairly in case he didn’t have a copy of the written document.  Also, under the unfair competition laws, just the failure to obtain the form itself could be an unfair business practice under Business and Professions Code Section 17200.  So, regardless of whether the consent was or was not obtained or was the approximate cause of the adverse consequence, a physician could be held responsible.  


In either event, you’re creating further barriers to care because physicians will either abandon their practice entirely, which we’re seeing up and down the State of California for a number of reasons, or they’ll be reluctant to prescribe medically necessary medications.


I think we need to remove barriers.  Assemblymember Helen Thomson tried to do that in 1999 with California’s medical health parity law.  Nearly five years ago the Legislature found that severe mental illness was treatable with medications but that there was an inability to get coverage for it.  So, we came up with the law of requiring that there be mental health parity and that plans and insurers must provide basic healthcare services for severe mental conditions as defined, and it was a limited subset of conditions.  Interestingly enough, the regulations that define basic healthcare services talk about crisis stabilization and intervention in patient hospital care and services obliquely from licensed healthcare professionals.  It doesn’t talk about psychotherapy; it doesn’t talk about follow-up care.  And, unfortunately, it does not appear that mental health parity is being obtained in California.


We went ahead and looked at the 2003 Quality of Care Report Card that the DMHC puts on its website, and most patients that responded to the surveys didn’t complete treatment.  In fact, less than half.  Forty-four point five percent that sought therapy for depression including antidepressants completely failed to complete their treatment.  Most patients don’t get follow-up.  Only 25 percent of patients were not seen for follow-up at least three times after the initial visit during the next twelve-month period.  These numbers don’t appear to be parity, and the Legislature did understand this.  So, in the budget trailer bill this year, in AB 2117, there is language calling for the Department of Managed Health Care, the Department of Insurance, and the Department of Mental Services to actually find out what the problems are to achieving parity and report to the Legislature by March of 2005.


Do we at this point have answers?  No.  My informal recommendation first and foremost is actually get the information.  Use your subpoena powers.  Work towards a lawsuit.  Have a resolution go from the California Legislature to Congress because of the preemptive issues.  In terms of getting the information and depending upon what the information is, ensure that it gets in the hands of physicians so that the informed consent process could be even more meaningful.  But in the absence of more information at this point, to have it go into the documentation that would create a barrier I think would be a problem for the reasons described above.


Reduce the stigma, not increase it.  There’s a significant stigmatization of psychiatric care, which we heard of today.  There was a Health Affairs article in 2002 that noted that patient resistance to therapy was a major cause for inadequate treatment for serious disorders.  I am concerned that increasing the informed consent procedures with written documentation will only increase the stigmatization of getting necessary care.  


Reduce the paperwork.  Don’t increase it.  Physicians are having to spend hours and hours dealing with paperwork to get follow-up visits, to get continuation of care.  In a slightly unrelated context, we were looking in prior authorization requirements for drugs, and what we’re finding is that physicians are increasingly just not prescribing at all because of all the burdensome paperwork requirements.


Ensure that insurance is adequate, clear, and fully disclosed.  Consider expanding the types of severe mental illness.  Ensure that coverage under the mental health parity is not just crisis intervention and stabilization, but it’s follow-up; it’s psychotherapy.  It’s moving to the next step and ensuring that just drugs are not given.  And make sure that that’s covered and adequately reimbursed so that physicians can provide the care.


In sum, we believe that the barriers need to be removed, not erected, and we urge that all interested stakeholders work together to see that the system works in the best interest of patient care.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you very much, Ms. Meghrigian.


I want to say that we agree very much with a number of your key points.  Earlier today and in another forum, I too called for—and I think that will be one of the follow-ups that we’ll do through our committees and the Legislature by resolution as well as by letters from these committees—asking the pharmaceutical companies to fully disclose all the information they have, to give us the studies so that science and the medical community can look at that so that we can have the best information for doctors to make their judgment calls on whether to use and what the risks are, and that’s key.  And underscoring what we mentioned earlier, the huge need to better and fully fund comprehensive mental health care in California and around the nation.  We have a chance to do that in Prop. 63, but we need to do it on a regular basis in our own budget resources.  I’m in favor also of expanding what we require as part of our insurance coverage so that we have the opportunity for access and more comprehensive care.


As to the written forms, I appreciate your concern.  Again, I think we mentioned earlier that just having a piece of paper that gets signed with cursory, if not dismissive, attention is not good.  


Does CMA have a position, or have you done any research, are you aware of any research, on the Accutane informed consent and whether it’s worked or not or whether it’s provided a barrier or not?


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  The only thing that I was told on this issue was that with Accutane, at least there were conclusive studies demonstrating the link between the medication and depression and possible suicide but that there’s a lack of conclusive studies at this point here—and which goes back to my first point:  Let’s find those conclusive studies.  Let’s look at the evidence before we create a barrier.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I guess a number of us will disagree, and we’ll absorb all the information we can at this hearing and further, as to whether that evidence exists today.  I believe from what I’ve heard there is a risk.  In the recent journal of medical review—JAMA’s article—in that first nine days it appears to be clear there’s a risk of higher suicide attempts and completions.


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  Can I respond?  You’re right.  I actually haven’t read the article.  I read the background paper right there.  Actually, to me what the JAMA article was emphasizing was what I was emphasizing, and that is not a written consent form but follow-up and getting your patient in.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Well, I look forward and I’m sure CMA would like to work with us.  As we explore informed consent, we should look at what the counties are doing and how it’s worked or not worked; how the Accutane protocols have worked or not worked.  I know there was no requirement for, I guess, informed consent.


I recently took my seventeen-year-old daughter in for a consultation prior to wisdom teeth removal, and it was quite extensive.  It was, like, seven minutes, but it was very detailed.  I understood every single risk on earth, and my daughter did too, but I think more than just a piece of paper that people sign, there may be a way to do an informed consent that has that consultation.  The doctors need the time so they’re not rushed on to the next patient by the system, but they have the time to talk to the patient about the risks and going through them one by one on a checklist and make sure that they’re all covered.  So, that’s part of the dialogue we’ll explore.


MS. MEGHRIGIAN:  I appreciate it.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you very much, both of you, for your testimony.  We will be definitely following up in terms of asking for the full set of information that’s out there in the clinical studies.


We come to our fourth panel.  I appreciate the patience of all of you who have been with us.  Now in our fourth panel we’ll hear from families and consumers.  We’d like to ask those individuals to come up who’ve been invited to speak at this part of our day:  Mark Chaffee, president of the Suicide Prevention Action Network.  Lorraine, Robert, and Jonathon Slater.  Please come forward or whoever of the family is going to speak.  Terri O’Neal.  Stephanie Welch.  And then we’ll make room for others as the first group has had a chance to talk.  Stephanie Welch from Sacramento.  Meghan Stantan, who’s the executive director of the Consumer Self-Help of Sacramento.  And after we have room for other witnesses, we’ll ask the remaining members of this panel to come forward:  Tom Woodward and Jacob Cook.


Again, thank you for coming from so many different places, far away in many instances, to share.  I understand in the cases we’ll hear from you of the tragedy that struck your families and affected your lives so deeply.  Our empathy is there, our thoughts are with you, and we appreciate what you’ve been going through.


We will ask you to try to focus within the four- to five-minute timeframe, understanding that there’s so much more to tell in each one of your perspectives.


We would like to start with Mark Chaffee.  Mark?


MR. MARK CHAFFEE:  Thank you, Senator Torlakson.  Thank you for holding the hearing.  Thank you for sticking it out and being here so that we can talk with you.


I’d like to thank you for inviting SPAN, the Suicide Prevention Advocacy Network of California, to participate in the hearing today on the relationship between antidepressants and suicide.  The loss of life from suicide is one of the most significant yet largely ignored health problems that Californians face today.


Regarding antidepressants, we support full disclosure to patients and parents.  We also support improving the training and education of general practitioners about depression and the implementation of depression screening in the doctor’s office and in our middle and high schools.  


The problem of suicide is monumental in California.  It’s been growing significantly over the past three decades.  Each year in California there are approximately 3,000 deaths.  Actually, the most recent year that we have statistics, it’s 3,198.  This exceeds homicide deaths by 44 percent.  It exceeds HIV/AIDS deaths by 102 percent.  Suicide is the tenth or eleventh, depending on the year you’re measuring, leading cause of death.  Someone mentioned earlier it’s the third leading cause of death for youth.  It affects all age groups over five and cuts across all gender, ethnic, and socioeconomic groups.  


Suicide Prevention Advocacy Network of California was founded in 1999 as a force for suicide prevention, an arena for collaboration among public and private agencies, and a voice in our state capital for suicide prevention.  We’re a nonprofit organization of volunteers.  Many of us have survived the suicide of a close family member.


I would mostly likely not be sitting here speaking to you now if not for the death of my sixteen-year-old son, Eric.  He died by suicide six years ago.  My wife and I found him in his room, and our lives were immediately plunged into the unspeakably dark horror that only another survivor can relate to.  As a result, we began a journey to attempt to understand what had just happened to our son and to our lives.  Unfortunately, we mostly found only other parents, wives, husbands, adult children, and siblings that were asking the same questions we were:  Why did this happen?  Why us?  How could my son’s life have been saved?  What is being done to ensure that other families do not have to experience this unnecessary nightmare?  Sadly, we found few answers that were satisfactory.  


The fact that so many precious lives are lost, so little is done to prevent this, is just not acceptable.  If just one child is lost because of an inappropriate prescription to an antidepressant or because there was insufficient follow-up by a physician, we’ve failed as caretakers in this society.  On behalf of the tens of thousands of survivor family members that have lost a loved one to suicide, I am here to say that failure of this sort is not tolerable.


I’m also here to say that the public health problem of suicide goes far beyond the labeling of antidepressants or informed consent forms.  California needs a plan, a strategy, and an accountability to begin solving this problem on behalf of its families.  Today I’m asking that you and this committee take action to begin the process of creating solutions by establishing a state task force.  We’ll meet you halfway on it.


Last year, at the request of SPAN California, Senator Ortiz introduced a resolution that called suicide “a state priority” and declared that state and local, public and private organizations are encouraged to work in mutual cooperation to develop and implement a California Strategy for Suicide Prevention using the national strategy for suicide prevention as a guideline.  The resolution, of course, was unanimously passed, and a twin resolution that was introduced in the Assembly by Assemblyman Lowenthal was also unanimously approved.


Not only do we appreciate the actions of Senator Ortiz on our behalf and on behalf of suicide prevention, we also took the resolution quite seriously.  On May 6th and 7th of this year, SPAN California convened a partnership of state and local, public and private organizations to work in mutual cooperation to develop the California Strategy for Suicide Prevention based upon the national strategy.  Over one hundred experts, educators, counselors, survivors, advocates, youth, physicians, law enforcement, and other interested stakeholders worked for two days to develop a draft strategy for our state.  Some of the leading suicidologists in the country traveled to Sacramento to assist us in this important groundbreaking task.  This included Dr. Robert DiMartino from SAMHSA.  It included Colonel David Litts who developed the very successful Air Force suicide prevention program and now heads the National Suicide Prevention Resource Center.  It included the former Surgeon General David Satcher.  By all accounts and acclaim, our work was appreciated, and it was a great step toward saving lives.  However, it was just a first step.  


It’s time for this work to be completed.  We cannot lose the momentum created by the first-ever statewide partnership.  In fact, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration has provided funding to the National Suicide Prevention Resource Center to assist us in finalizing this plan.  “Us” being California.  We have a team of private sector experts that have volunteered their time to continue this work; to turn the draft into a final plan.  What we need now are our partners from the state departments of Mental Health, Education, Health Services, Corrections, and all other stakeholders deemed appropriate by you.  This is a call to action to save lives.  The collective lethargy that allows 3,000 Californians to die every year as a result of suicide must be replaced with a vigorous plan and action.  We need to finish the work on a plan that will encompass the issue discussed today as well as the other facets of the complex problem of suicide.  We cannot afford to avoid this problem just because it’s difficult to solve.  The lives of our spouses, our parents, siblings, and our children are at stake.


I’m asking this joint committee to appoint a task force with state professionals to partner with us and to take advantage of the offer from SAMHSA and SPRC to complete the work of developing the California Strategy for Suicide Prevention and to report back to this joint committee with a recommendation for implementation.


Again, thank you for the opportunity to address the public health tragedy of suicide.  We await your action.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chaffee.  We’ll take that under consideration.  It’s part of the larger context of mental health challenges that we’ve been talking about.  We certainly are behind in not having that comprehensive mental health strategy in place and all the funding that should go with implementing such a program.  So, we’ll definitely follow up.


Next we would like Lorraine or Robert to share with us.  Lorraine Slater.


MS. LORRAINE SLATER:  Dear Senate Health and Human Services Committee and statewide task force on youth:  Informed parental consent is only possible as long as full disclosure is made by the pharmaceutical companies, the FDA, and the medical community.  How can you imagine I feel as Dominique’s mother, knowing now that I was slowly poisoning my daughter every day I was dispensing her antidepressant medication, including Celexa in which she made her first suicide attempt after being on it for almost one month, and Effexor, the last medication she was on when she did commit suicide?  Yes, Dominique’s mind and behavior were slowly being altered to the point that she became very agitated, irrational, and ultimately suicidal.  Because none of the so-called medical professionals acknowledge the drugs’ role in her irrational and suicidal behavior or properly withdrew her from their suicidal effects, our lovely fourteen-year-old daughter is dead.


Dominique has been denied the unalienable right by her Creator of the pursuit of life, liberty, and happiness.  She will no longer be able to pursue her dreams of becoming either a computer software engineer, computer graphics engineer, or marine biologist and someday an entrepreneur she had hoped.  Gone too is the ability to watch Dominique blossom into womanhood as well as motherhood, as she expressed a desire to some day have five kids.  Now we will never have the opportunity to continue sharing our lives with Dominique, whom we loved and cherished so much.  She was not only very intelligent, humorous, delightful, insightful, and innovative, but she was also very caring and thoughtful.  Dominique had a way of making others feel special and loved.  She touched so many lives.  For example, Dominique made 1,000 paper origami cranes and sent them to Governor George Pataki of New York for the first anniversary of 9/11.  It was because of Dominique’s very loving and genuine nature that around 300 people showed up to her memorial service.  They couldn’t believe that for someone who was so loving and caring that she would herself take her own life.


I submit to you today, ladies and gentlemen, that Dominique’s life was taken from her as a result of a drug-induced psychosis and suicidal ideations, not to mention the probability of experiencing akathisia:  extreme agitation.  As a fourteen-year-old adolescent, her brain was experiencing its second largest growth period, and her hormones were unbalanced.  How can teenagers be allowed to be given antidepressants that were never approved for adolescent consumption—only for adults?  How come the medical profession doesn’t fully disclose the possible harmful and fatal effects of the medication, as well as watch carefully for its adverse effects on its adolescent population?  


It is our hope and prayer that as a result of today’s Senate hearing, the necessary steps will be taken to prevent the further needless and tragic loss of life.  Our family will always live with the knowledge that Dominique’s death could have been prevented and that we will never again be able to share our lives with her here on Earth.  Our only consolation is that we believe we will someday be reunited in Heaven and that perhaps in sharing the story of Dominique’s tragic loss of life, another family may be spared the horrific nightmare of losing a loved one to suicide.  I can honestly say I wish our daughter was never given antidepressants.  If she hadn’t, we believe she would still be alive today, and we wouldn’t be here right now testifying.  


In conclusion, I’d like to read some words that our fourteen-year-old son, Jonathon, wrote about his sister.


“I feel my sister Dominique’s passing is a very sad event.  She was always trying to help others in their frustration.  She had a brilliant mind full of ideas and innovations.  I loved her very much for who she was.  That’s why pain will be there for a lifetime.  I miss her kindness, joy, encouragement, and her.”


Many people have died of ignorance that has happened thirteen years ago by denying the truth that these drugs are dangerous.  Thirteen years is long enough.  We can go no further in these wrong beliefs.  By our silence, we have killed many lives.  A philosopher said that history is doomed to repeat itself.  I pray that will stop the pain that affects many Americans.  We have lost dreamers, pioneers, inventors, engineers, and heroes.  We can’t ignore the deaths of brothers and sisters and future mothers, fathers, aunts, and uncles.  I feel that one person can move the world and shape a nation.  We have murdered many that could have changed the world and changed the nation for the better.  The government is supposed to provide for the common defense, common welfare, and domestic tranquility for its citizens, yet many have died.  Please help to make a hope come true:  that we stop this form of evil.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you very much, Lorraine, for your testimony, for sharing, and your commitment, and Jonathon, for your eloquent statement that’s been shared with us.  Thank you.


Terri O’Neal?


MS. TERRI O’NEAL:  Good afternoon, Senators and guests.  My name is Terri O’Neal, and I’m here today to tell you a short story about a short life.


When my son was three, he was so excited about going to preschool that he would dress himself every morning before starting our busy day.  He would put on a dress shirt, a clip-on tie, and a pair of jeans.  I was so proud that he would do this all by himself.  I would take him to his preschool and head off to work.  After a few weeks, I received a call from the director stating that my son was continually disrupting the school.  She said that it was cute at first but it’s getting out of hand and it had to stop.  He was wearing his pajamas under his clothes.  These were not ordinary pajamas.  They were Superman pajamas with a cape.  In the morning he would put on his shirt and tie and went off to school as Clark Kent.  When he got to school, he became Superman.  


My son’s name was Benjamin Bratt, and he, too, was quite an actor.  He was a comedian, an athlete, and a musician.  He was intelligent.  He had great imagination and a wonderful sense of humor.  He was full of ambition.  In just a few days from now he would have turned twenty-one—another milestone in his life that we will never experience.  We’ve missed seven years of his life.  We’ve missed the first car, the first date, the prom, and graduation.  We will never know what kind of man he would have become.  Ben completed suicide on Valentine’s Day, February 14, 1997, only nine days after receiving Paxil as a treatment for depression.  He was only thirteen years old.  For years we have wondered why my son would do something so out of character.  


Suicide has become a major economic burden in the United States.  There has been a tremendous impact on our family alone.  Ben’s father, stepfather, and I were unable to work for months after his death, we were so completely devastated.  My family lost our home to foreclosure, our cars through repossession.  We lost our outstanding credit, and we were homeless for months.  It tore my family apart.  Finally, my husband and I divorced.


I was shocked and outraged to learn that only 25 percent of all drugs on the market today have been tested or labeled for safe and effective use in children.  At the time the antidepressant-suicide controversy erupted last year—or last summer—in the UK, the makers of Paxil and other antidepressants had conducted a number of studies in children and adolescents, but it was for the purpose of gaining an extension on their precious patents.  During these studies, a pattern emerged of up to a threefold increased risk of suicide behavior in children and adolescents taking the drugs.  It was also discovered that GlaxoSmithKline, the maker of Paxil, was using the term “emotional liability” in its clinical trials in order to mask the true incidence rate of suicide behavior.


The drug companies knew their drugs were being prescribed off label to children and adolescents; yet, they withheld these risks from doctors and the public.  They concealed the fact that the risk benefit profile is not in favor of taking the drugs.  This is not blind speculation.  This is according to analyses conducted by UK regulators and an FDA scientist whose analysis was suppressed by FDA officials now under congressional investigation.  These findings were further supported in an April 2004 article published in a respected medical journal, The Lancet.  The authors concluded that hidden and unpublished data from clinical trials of antidepressants show an unfavorable risk benefit profile.


For more than ten years now, our children have been silently dying from a drug that is marketed to save their lives.  I am not trying to minimize the benefits some people feel they or their children have experienced with these drugs, but the benefits have been grossly oversold by the companies and the risks downplayed.  We have been betrayed, not only by the profit-driven pharmaceutical industry but by the FDA whose duty is to protect us.


An editorial in the same issue of The Lancet remarked, and I quote, “The story of research into the SSRI use in childhood depression is one of confusion, manipulation, and institutional failure.”  The editors of the journal pointed out that despite the UK regulator’s actions prohibiting the treatment of children and adolescents with these drugs, and I quote again, “The FDA in the U.S. appears to have failed to act appropriately on information provided to them that these drugs were both ineffective and harmful in children.”


I have two surviving children who will soon be grown up and will soon have children of their own, and when I look into the future, I pray that I will not see my grandchildren poisoned by drugs that are not properly labeled, not properly tested, or not tested at all.


Our children face all kinds of dangers in this world.  We as parents do all we can to protect them from these dangers, but when the danger comes in the form of help without warning, it is the most insidious of situations:  to not be able to protect your own child from harm. 


My heart is broken, but I hope my tragedy can help prevent others from having to endure the same.


I would like to express my deepest gratitude to have the opportunity to come before you and share my tragic loss and concerns with you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, too, Terri.  I appreciate your sharing.


Stephanie Welch.


MS. STEPHANIE WELCH:  First, I want to say thank you, Senator, for bringing attention to this important issue.


My name is Stephanie Welch.  I’m the associate director of public policy and special programs for the Mental Health Association of California.  I have been in that position for a little over four years.  I’m also diagnosed with bipolar disorder, and I have been taking a variety of different antidepressants ever since I was seventeen years old.


This Friday I turn twenty-nine, and despite three suicide attempts of my own, two of which left me hospitalized for a number of months, I’m alive, and I’m trying to do my best to address this very problem that so unfortunately has touched our families.  There are tens of thousands of Californians like me, many of them young—adolescents, young adults, college students—who are living with bipolar and depression every day and who do not have access to the care that they need in order to address the problem and to continue on and lead successful lives.  


I’d like to touch on that issue with some examples from my own psychiatric history, as we call it, and I would like to try to put a face on some of the things that many of my colleagues, that I see on a regular daily basis, earlier today touched on.


One of the primary problems with the lack of access to care is that it is caused by what we’ve talked a little bit about today, and that is stigma.  We are doing something today to address that problem.  It’s a problem that surrounds mental illness, and it is a problem that has many, many effects that I think we don’t truly take a look at.


One of the outcomes of this stigma is a lack of access to care.  Secondarily, it’s a lack of just knowledge about what mental illness is, what mental health problems are, and what to do when they affect you and your family.  If a mental illness is caused by bad character, maybe poor parenting, and if that is a general belief, then why would the public think that it’s important to pay for the kinds of necessary services that we need in order to put our lives together?  Why would they think that it’s important to pay for therapists and psychologists and psychiatrists if we aren’t out there educating people about the importance that these treatments are effective?  If teachers and other educators and leaders who choose the health curriculum that is taught at schools don’t believe that adolescents can suffer from mental health problems, then they wouldn’t be persuaded to potentially discuss these issues within the classroom.  They wouldn’t arm students with the tools that they need so that if they did see some signs in their peers, that they knew where to go for help.


This was the environment that I grew up in.  These were the messages that I saw.  And I guess one of the important points that I haven’t heard today that I really would like to bring to your attention is that adolescents, as we know, want desperately to fit in.  I did not want anyone to know at fourteen years old that I had had a suicide attempt.  I did not want any of my peers to know that I had to go to a therapist at least once a week.  These feelings and this knowledge continued as I went through an entire process of trying to come to terms with the fact that I might have a mental illness as a teenager.  Knowing that there were all of these horrible images out there about what it was to be someone who was suffering from a mental illness, I was extremely resistant a) to think that treatment could ever help me, and b) to accept my illness.  It was a very shameful and painful place to be.


After my first suicide attempt at fourteen—my parents had recently divorced—my experience with the treatment that was available under my parents’ health insurance was that I had ten visits per year.  After two visits, the experience that I had had was that I was a fourteen-year-old who had divorced parents and that this was something that could be fixed.  Well, it didn’t get fixed.  Over the course of the next three years, in trying to access services that were not available to myself through my family’s insurance plan at the time, I developed a severe eating disorder:  anorexia.  I also started cutting, which I believe most people know what that is, but I took razor blades to my skin in a way that I was trying to alleviate some pain.  I isolated myself.  Chronic mood swings.  I even was repeatedly breaking things.  My mother was afraid that. . . . I never would maybe potentially be violent towards her, but she was desperately afraid that I would do something to hurt myself.  But, I was an “A” student, and no matter how many doctors my mother talked to, she seemed to consistently get a message that was:  We don’t see your daughter failing.  We don’t see a need to give you more care.  


By the time I was seventeen, the cutting had gotten fairly severe.  I had to drop off of the swim team because I was so desperately afraid that someone would find out.  I was ashamed, I was embarrassed, and at this point my mother started to really arm herself and educate herself.  She had been working with some advocacy organizations, trying to figure out, Where do I go to get help?  How do I pay out of pocket for the kind of care that I do need if I can’t access it through my insurance plan?  At that point, I was given a diagnosis of clinical depression.  I also had been at least talked to about the eating disorder, but it wasn’t clearly addressed because, again, that’s another issue that doesn’t really have health insurance coverage to take care of that particular issue.


That particular year was my senior year in high school in which I tried a variety of different antidepressants.  It was an extremely difficult period.  It also was a period in which I know my mother spent much of her money as a single parent that she did not have in trying to get me the kinds of access to treatment that I did not have.  But there was some success, and I did go off to college that fall, graduating with honors and receiving a scholarship for my education at UC San Diego.  Again, the access-to-care issue came up, and the stigma issue came up just as much.  Being a new student in a new place with new doctors, I did not want anyone to know that I was receiving treatment.  I thought for sure I’d be an outcast if they knew that I had had a suicide attempt on my record and that I had received psychiatric treatment—that I currently saw a doctor.  I was afraid that no one would want to be my friend or accept me.  These are some of the very real realities that adolescents go through when we’re talking about this issue of antidepressants, treatment, and appropriate treatment.


After my freshman year, things had gotten severely worse.  Some of the outcomes that took place were that the anorexia at this point had completely grappled my entire life.  I was down to about 92 pounds and certainly not capable of attending school.  My dreams had very much been taken away from me.  But it actually was not the anorexia or even the alcohol abuse or the abusing of my own medications at that point that I had been drawn to that led me to a second suicide attempt at nineteen.  At this point, because of the severity of my condition, I was able to receive a lengthy hospital stay and actually access to quite good treatment, which was a combination of, both, medications and some diagnostic testing which was very much needed since I, at this point, had now had three different diagnoses.  But again, this is pre-parity, and even if we did have parity, the bill that my mother was left with was still $25,000.


At this point I tried to return to school, full well knowing that my mother was almost to the point where she needed to sell her house in order to liquidate enough cash for fear that I would not be able to get insurance.  When I tried to return to a normal way of life, I could not get access to an insurance plan.  I was not a student any longer in the university system, and I no longer was young enough to be covered under my mother’s insurance plan.  I was just like a fish out in the sea.  We started going to different family members to make sure that there was enough money to try to continue to have the two- to three-day-a-week treatment that I needed to have that we were paying out of pocket for.


Well, it wasn’t surprising that within a year I had another suicide attempt.  Much of this was because I could not get access to the kind of care that I needed.  I could not get any therapy.  There were not support groups either that were available to me or appropriate for an adolescent who was nineteen years old.  And I think this is a very serious problem, that there are not services that are tailored towards this particular population which is struggling with some very different issues than some of the older adults in the mental health system and some of the services that are offered for people with mental health issues.


Again, after this particular incident, I had some incredibly good care.  I think it got to the point for my mother that she was willing to pay any price, and I thank her incredibly for her guidance and for her support.  But, I recognized and I’m here today because I know that most people don’t have someone like my mother.  Most people don’t have somebody who can be a voracious advocate.  Most people don’t have somebody who can find the financial resources that are needed to get the appropriate diagnosis.  In my case it was bipolar disorder.


And I would like to say that at nineteen years old, there was a doctor once who told me that I would never become the person that I wanted to become and that my ambitious goals of returning to UC San Diego, et cetera, et cetera, would be something that I would never be able to do.  Well, it’s ten years later.  I graduated magna cum laude from UC Davis with a double major.  I’m currently in a master’s program, and I believe I have a fairly good job and a loving family and friends.


These are the kinds of things and the outcomes that can occur if we provide the appropriate access to care and start addressing the stigma that so plagues young people in trying to talk about this issue.


Thank you so much for bringing attention to it.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you.  Thank you again, Stephanie Welch, for sharing your courage and sharing your own personal experiences and demonstrating again very clearly and in detail the difficulties of access and difficulties of finding the right treatment.  So, I appreciate your being here and commend your success—and thank your mom too.


Next, Meghan Stantan.


MS. MEGHAN STANTAN:  Good afternoon.  I’m Meghan Stantan.


I’m actually here on behalf of the California Network of Mental Health Clients, as I am a consumer.  I also happen to be the executive director of a private nonprofit agency here in Sacramento called Consumer Self-Help Center.  I have a contract with Sacramento County to provide patients’ rights advocacy and to drop in centers for mental health consumers.  I am a consumer myself, and I am a mother of a child who has mental health issues as well.  I wear many hats on many different days.


I actually wasn’t taking a position regarding the SSRIs and the outcome of them, although I do have personal experience, both being prescribed SSRIs and did not find them particularly helpful, and my daughter also was prescribed medications (SSRIs)—Wellbutrin—which caused a reaction very similar to what they were talking about:  the restlessness, severe agitation.  Fortunately, at the time she was in the hospital, so we discussed her not taking that medication that evening anymore, and that seemed to reduce that symptom.  Neither one of us are currently taking any medications at this time.


I really kind of wanted to call your attention to the fact that there’s not a whole lot of other alternatives.  I believe in alternatives because I believe in respecting people’s family values and their individuality.  None of the treatment that I felt that I was offered nor the treatment that I felt my daughter was offered through our HMO was tailored to our family values or our individual personalities.  My daughter was very much treated like a child instead of a young woman capable of understanding and being a partner in the decisions about her treatment, which frustrated her and made her very resistant to treatment because she feels like she wants her autonomy at sixteen.  That’s pretty common.


She was experiencing much difficulty at school, although she’s extremely bright.  It wasn’t necessarily that she be having difficulty at school—she found absolutely no reason to go.  Although, she said she didn’t want me to go to jail, so she continued to participate because she was aware that there was a possibility that if she just became truant, that I could be held on charges.  I finally, after her hospitalization, decided that it was worth going to jail to not have to make her go back to a public high school that didn’t have any respect for the children that they were serving and that was actually making her condition worse, not better.  So, we tried independent study.  They dropped her when she was hospitalized and told me that she had to go through some other program, which was so difficult to access that we didn’t even bother.  She’s exceptionally bright, and she passed the California High School Proficiency Exam, and she now is enrolled in college.  We just skipped high school.  It’s not always for children, I think, that have some special needs and unique ideas about who they are in the world.  So, that’s been kind of our personal family experience in regards to mental health.


I offer alternatives to traditional mental health services at the programs that I am the executive director for.  I think that it is imperative that there be an array of services offered to individuals because medication is not the answer for everyone, nor should it just be give you a pill and send you home.  I think that there’s an overdependence in mental health all around; not just treating depression or bipolar disorder, but all mental health disorders—to kind of put all your eggs in one basket, so to speak, and prescribe medications, and if that one doesn’t work, on to another one.  Oftentimes I think that it is inappropriate and irresponsible, and I hope that through all of this testimony and the information that you’re receiving today, that you’ll look at the mental health system in the larger picture and address some of those issues because I think that we really need your help.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Meghan Stantan, also for sharing.  What’s your daughter’s name?


MS. STANTAN:  Catherine.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Catherine.  Thanks again for sharing.


Jacob Cook and then Tom Woodward.  Jacob, are you here and ready to go?  Share with us, and then if one of you could give room for Tom Woodward to sit here.  And again to all of you, I want to thank you.


Jacob.


MR. JACOB COOK:  Thank you for having me here.  My name’s Jacob Cook.


I moved up to Colfax about freshman year.  I started playing soccer up there two weeks before the school year started, and I met my buddy, Brent Geibelson.  Him and I had a few common interests; hung out every now and then freshman year.  Sophomore year we played together again; became better friends.  Junior year became better friends.  Pretty soon we’re reminiscing on fun times we’ve had.  Senior year, you know, we were just pretty much inseparable.  We’d be with each other every day; every day at school, every time we’d go for a field trip or something, for soccer, whatever.


First night we weren’t together he called me up asking me what I was doing that night, and I told him, Well, I’m having a few people come up.  You should come up.

He’s like, No, I’ve got stuff to do.


All right, that’s cool.

He’s like, Yeah, I’m looking for a phone number.

I’m like, Yeah, sure.  What number?

He’s like, I’m looking for Shannon’s number.  He’s been dating this girl for, like, two months.


I’m like, Why do you need Shannon’s number?

He’s like, Oh, I lost it.


Okay.  So, I gave him her number.


And he’s like, All right, thanks.  Bye.  Hangs up.


I’m like, Huh.  That’s kind of weird.  And then, go over, you know.  Nothing’s really happening.  Just kind of hanging out that night.


The next morning I wake up to a phone call, and my buddy, Brett, calls me up.  He’s like, Hey, how you doing?

I’m like, I’m doing all right.  What’s going on?

He’s like, Oh, you didn’t hear yet?

What?

He’s like, Okay.  Well, you’ve got to promise me something, Jacob.

I’m like, Okay.  What’s that?

He’s like, You got to hang out with me tonight when I tell you this news.


Okay.  What happened?


Brent Geibelson shot himself in the head last night.


No, he didn’t.  I was just talking to him last night.


He’s like, Yeah.  He did it, like, two hours after you got off the phone with him.

I’m like, No way.

I hang up the phone with him.  I call Brent’s cell phone, I get his voice message.  I call his house, I get his answering machine.  I call Brett back up.  I’m like, Did he really do it?

He’s like, Yeah, Brent’s gone.  He did it last night.


I’m like, All right.

So, I go down to my friend Kate’s house.  She was having a bunch of people over, and people are just sitting there and crying.  Just a huge hard time for Colfax High School at the time.


Then Brent’s mom asked me to speak at his funeral.  


Okay, I’ll speak.

I named a list of people that I saw crying within the three days, and I had probably a thirteen page front and back of people that I saw crying, people that I didn’t even know.


I spoke at his funeral—Lassila’s—in Auburn, and that place was packed everywhere—floors, outside.  The whole place was just completely packed.


I mean, Brent was the kind of guy that if he had three of something, he would give you two and keep one.  He was probably the most generous kid I’ve ever met in my life.  To my knowledge, he was on antidepressants his freshman year.  Freshman year we only hung out at school and everything, but on the weekends he would just sit in his room.  He wouldn’t do anything.  He’d just sit in his room and isolate himself.  People would call him.  He wouldn’t pick up his phone.  People would come by to see him, he’d just sit in his room, friendly and all; just never really wanted to do anything.  So, he just pretty much got into the wrong game.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Do you know, did he stop taking them?  Did he stop his medication?  Do you know if he was using an antidepressant at the time he took his life?


MR. COOK:  Actually, he got into a more heavier, illegal drug, which pretty much did it for him.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  So, it was pretty devastating to you and all your friends.


MR. COOK:  Yeah.  So, just kind of a live and learn situation.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I appreciate your sharing.  Thank you.


Tom Woodward.


MR. TOM WOODWARD:  Senator, thank you for organizing these hearings on this very important issue.


My name is Tom Woodward.  My family has been tragically pulled into the center of what I believe is a national scandal.  I’m here today to briefly tell you our personal story and act as a voice of countless other families, many of whom I’ve come to know well that have also been tragically affected by antidepressant drugs.


Almost one year ago our seventeen-year-old daughter, Julie—the oldest of our four children—was prescribed Zoloft.  Julie had no history of self-harm.  Seven days after taking her first Zoloft tablet, Julie took her life.  I don’t have the time today to allow you to get to know Julie as we do.  She was a beautiful and intelligent young girl that was and is deeply loved and missed by all those who knew her.  Those in our family and community that knew her best know it was the Zoloft that caused her death.


We were told by those that prescribed Zoloft to Julie that it was safe, mild, very effective, and an essential part of her treatment.  This, incidentally, was done in front of Julie.  They were wrong.  This false sense of security was further reinforced by two-and-a-half pages of prescribing information that failed to mention anything about paradoxical responses to the drug, increased risks for violence or self-harm within the first few days of taking the drug, or how to recognize warning signs that indicated my child was in danger.  We now know that Julie began experiencing akathisia almost immediately after taking the first pill.  We had never heard this term before.  It was never discussed by those that prescribed her medication.  I’ve since learned that akathisia is to suicide what a lit match is to gasoline.  


Julie was very excited about going to college.  She was an outstanding student, excelled in honors classes, and had just the month before received the results of her SAT tests.  She scored 720 in the verbal; just under 1300 overall.  She was looking forward to her future.  She was robbed of that future by these drugs.


My wife and I didn’t want drugs for Julie.  We were lulled into a false sense of security.  If she had not been given Zoloft, Julie would be here today.  Instead of helping Julie pick out a college, my wife, Kathy, and I had to choose a cemetery.  Instead of visiting Julie at school, we now visit her grave.


But as important as Julie’s life is to us, I’ve come to learn that this issue goes well beyond our family.  We know of countless families that have stories eerily similar to ours:  children and adults that within days or weeks of being given an SSRI drug that have gone on to take their lives, frequently in very violent ways.


I’d like to note, too, in listening to some of the members of the panel that was here discussing this issue earlier, about how drugs were not often found in the system of the people that had committed suicide.  When the coroner did the blood tests on our daughter after her death, they found no trace of Zoloft because the battery of tests that they conducted didn’t look for Zoloft.  It wasn’t until they went back in specifically looking for it that they found it.  And not only did they find it, but they found it in a concentration that was four times the steady-stream concentration that she was being prescribed.  She was prescribed 50 milligrams.  She had a 200 milligram steady-stream concentration in her system.


Since Julie’s death we’ve learned that Zoloft and other SSRI drugs in its class have been under suspicion for a long time.  Antidepressants have come under growing scrutiny throughout the world.  In fact, in many instances they are being band for use with children eighteen and under.  We placed our faith in the hands of doctors; experts that rely on drug companies for much of what they know about these drugs.  We relied on the government and agencies such as the FDA to protect our family.  They failed to provide the protection that we trusted them to give.


Please bear in mind, Eli Lilly, the company that gave us LSD and touted it as the miracle drug that would end mental illness in the fifties, is the same company that gave us the first SSRI, Prozac; a not unrelated compound.
Antidepressant drugs are some of the most profitable of all drugs; in some cases the most profitable drugs made by some of the most profitable companies in the world.  These drugs are bringing in billions of dollars annually to the drug industry.


Big pharma has invested extensively to protect their financial interests.  As a direct result of this investment, they have put their friends and operatives into the agencies responsible for overseeing their actions.  Their efforts, in combination with the failure of the FDA to adequately warn about the horrific side effects of these drugs, have caused incalculable harm to individuals and families everywhere.


The FDA’s chief legal counsel, Daniel Troy, is actively protecting drug companies’ financial interests in court.  Their argument is that the FDA is infallible and we should just trust the drug companies once their products are approved.  History tells us otherwise:  the FDA has been wrong before.


Even today there’s disturbing evidence that pharmaceutical companies have suppressed negative information about the safety and efficacy of drugs, including SSRIs.  If the FDA’s infallible and the drug companies are completely forthright, why only last week did a major drug manufacture admit to fraud and was forced to pay a fine of $345 million?


The FDA has resisted placing warnings that SSRI drugs may actively cause people to become suicidal, even though strong warnings are in place on the very same drugs in a growing number of countries throughout the world, including Canada and Europe.  Senior leadership at the FDA seems more concerned that warnings, such as the warnings called for by its own subcommittee in February of this year, will unnecessarily confuse people and cause them not to buy these drugs.  The message seems to be:  Don’t inform doctors; don’t inform patients; don’t inform parents.  Just trust the drug companies, and don’t question the FDA’s judgment.  At the same time, the FDA’s Daniel Troy fought for the right for drug companies to run thirty-second ads day and night promoting these SSRI wonder drugs.  It’s okay to have happy pills with party hats dancing across our television sets, but it’s not okay to alert the public to concerns about the potential risks associated with these drugs.


I don’t subscribe to conspiracy theories.  We are, however, confronted with a well-designed, well-funded, brilliantly executed business plan on the part of the pharmaceutical industry promoting the use of SSRI drugs.  These companies have suppressed evidence of the causal relationship between SSRIs, self-harm, and suicide, and distorted and oversold the benefit of these drugs.  


I believe in this country.  I believe in our system of government.  And I believe there are good people within the pharmaceutical industry doing good things.  I believe there are good people in government and the FDA, and I believe there are good people in elected office.  However, there are people here that are doing harm.  They are the ones that are using the FDA to facilitate drug marketing at the expense of their real mission:  to protect consumers from harm.  This issue goes beyond Democrat versus Republican partisan politics.  This transcends liberal versus conservative ideology.  It is about a fundamental duty to protect the trusting, unsuspecting people of this country, particularly our children, and is a betrayal of our trust for profit.


As Dr. Glenmullin pointed out, big pharma is using big tobacco’s playbook.  Drug companies say depression causes suicide, not their drugs.  This is an Elgin(?) catch-all defense.  Unfortunately, it’s disingenuous and is not supported by the facts, including their own scientists’ admissions and many of their own clinical trials.  Too many people that have been prescribed these drugs who weren’t depressed in the first place are going on to kill themselves.  Too many families from all walks of life are recounting horror stories about these drugs.  People are given SSRI drugs for just about everything—headaches, sleeplessness, heart problems—and many have gone on to take their lives or harm others.  Big pharma typically argues that these people must have had an undiagnosed depression.  Is this a brilliant deduction or perverse twist of logic?  Remember that these are powerful psychotropic drugs that are by their very design intended to tamper with brain chemistry.  The drugs can’t tell a normal brain from an abnormal one, and after some normal volunteers in a clinical trial took the same drugs, their physicians couldn’t tell those with normal brains from those with serious mental illness, but still the drug companies say No, it couldn’t be the drug, and the FDA just looks the other way.  Please bear in mind that children five and under—children five and under—are the fastest growing group of recipients of these psychotropic drugs.


At this moment there are programs under way that have their goal of screening every man, woman, and child in this country for mental health problems, of which they are unaware or have no desire to seek treatment for.  If I hadn’t learned what I know today, I might have seen this as a noble effort.  Unfortunately, the way many of these tests are designed, if you’re human you’ll fail—or succeed, as the drug companies see it—and become another mental health pharmaceutical consumer.


The drug companies don’t even try to bury their message in subliminal advertising.  You’ve seen the ads.  It’s all right in your face.  Ever feel sad?  Take some Prozac.  Worried about your job?  Take some Paxil.  Ever think bad thoughts?  Take a Zoloft.  They know that for some people their sadness, bad thoughts, their jobs, and their very lives could end within a week of their very first dose, but the FDA doesn’t require them to have your doctor warn you about that.


We may not be able to correct all the problems we face, but there are specific things we can do immediately:

· Place strong warnings on these drugs now.

· Inform physicians and mental health professionals of the potential risks.  Let this very real issue be a part of the education process.

· Follow the actions of Canada, the UK, and the rest of Europe.

· Require patients’ informed consent.  Informed consent would save lives.

· Compel these companies to release all their data.  Let’s let the light in.


We need to restore the FDA to an agency that protects the American people and its original mission.  Do not allow it to act as an agent of the pharmaceutical industry whose primary mission is to protect their businesses and financial interests.  What happened to Julie matters.  What happened to Liz matters.  All these children and all these families matter.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Tom.


You’ve worked with parents around the country.  Do you have any sense of the total number of families that have been affected by these tragedies?  Or do you have any way of estimating?


MR. WOODWARD:  It’s really hard to say, but the stories are just so numerous.  We’ve had people that have reached out to us.  We’ve had the opportunity through the media to tell our story, and we’ve had literally hundreds of people that have called us and contacted us about this.  We get emails and phone calls, still, every day.  It’s a major problem.  I said I think that one of the things that’s bringing this to light now and bringing it out as much as it has is the fact that through the Internet, people are able to communicate what are oftentimes issues that they keep to themselves or left in their community and aren’t discussed.  But now there’s a forum where people can bring these problems out and discuss it, and I think that’s been a huge help.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Do you have a Web page or a place where a parent group is forming?  Are you working on an organization?


MR. WOODWARD:  Well, there are a couple of websites out there that do have additional information.  One is www.drugawareness.org.  There’s another one that’s www.ahrp.com, I believe.  We are now actively looking to put together a group similar to MADD of families that have been tragically touched by these drugs in an effort to bring some of these issues to light and to provide a resource for families that have had problems with this.  And I’m hoping to expand it into looking at alternate treatment options, and other things that people can use, and not rely so heavily on antidepressant drugs.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you for your personal involvement and commitment and your leadership.  And to each of the family members, the individuals who’ve testified on behalf of Jonathon and Dominique and Benjamin and Julie and Brent and other young Stephanies who have faced challenges and been able to overcome them for mental health problems, that’s why we’re here today.  We understand somewhat on behalf of Liz—and Liz’s mom is out in the audience—we understand some of the agony and some of the terror you’ve been through yourselves, and we’re here to try to help other individuals not face the same kinds of tragedies or the same kinds of agonies.  


So, thank you.


MR. WOODWARD:  Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  I’m going to get a sense by asking just a show of hands—how many would like to comment under the Public Comment period so I can sort of divide up the time that we have?  Just to get an idea of how many that would be.  And then, I’d like to then ask those of you who wish to testify to come forward.


I want to try to summarize a few of those things from this formal part of the hearing that I believe we should do as follow-up and I’ll be recommending to my colleagues.


So, if we could just quietly have those of you who wish to come forward and testify occupy the chairs here.


Are there any representatives here from the pharmaceutical companies who would like to say anything or testify?


At the minimum, we need at least another hearing, in my view, to further develop information and to ask for as much information as we can get from other parties that weren’t included fully today but we wish to include more fully.  To me, from what I’ve learned today and from what I’ve been reading recently, I’m extremely concerned, in my view, at the tardy and inadequate oversight of the FDA and would like to have us somehow get the FDA here and to talk to us and to answer questions.  They were invited.  Terry Leach, my consultant, is telling me they were invited.  We’ll find some other means to get them here.  As our federal regulator and representative and public protector supposedly, I would like to be able to ask a series of questions that have come to my mind today as I’ve listened to the testimony, and I’m sure the other senators would have similar questions and concerns.  Certainly we’d like to ask—and I’ll once again underscore that we heard this from the providers, from medical experts, from the legal expert—full compilation; full disclosure of all the information.


So, asking the pharmaceutical companies and working with our Health Committee staff and our Wellness Committee staff to try to collate whatever we can that exists in the academic arena, in the medical community arena, but particularly we know there are extensive studies and documents that the pharmaceutical companies have, and we’d like them to voluntarily bring those forward and disclose them to the public and the scientific community so we could understand, as Tom Woodward just said, get the maximum amount of light on the data that is existing.  We’ll be looking as a follow-up to determine further how we can gather additional statistical information, what additional research, how to fund that research, how to go to the places where we don’t have information, and get the scientific minds and medical experts to focus on what’s needed to bring that evidence and information forward so we could better understand the risks and the incidence of tragedy or the incidence of some of the negative side effects.


We have a number of issues that came up in terms of the studies that are currently outstanding in the reclassification and redefinitions, but we’ll be asking our good consultant team to examine those studies carefully.  We invite all of you who’ve testified today to not only give us your own perspective on those studies that do exist but also provide us what questions you think were not asked today or weren’t fully answered so that we can go to the next level of information gathering that would be the foundation for legislative effort here in our Senate and Assembly, as well as what we may do.  I believe we should strongly do this, and the CMA attorney focused on this as well:  to voice our concerns and put together a resolution that we would ask Congress and FDA to not only fully follow up on their indications of concern and the requirement for labeling, but a number of issues that we’ve discovered today; to embody those in a resolution expressing our clear concerns for both the lack of information we have and the need to get it and the need to fully inform the public of the risks so that we don’t have the magnitude of repeat of tragedies that we’ve been hearing about today.


I’m told by my consultant that we have one guest who’s come all the way from Utah today under the Public Comment.  Is this the extent of those who are wishing to testify today?  Again, I’m thanking everybody who’s come.


Let’s start with Ann Tracy.  Which one of you is Ann?  Thank you.  During this part of the testimony, if you could keep it somewhere between three and five minutes, we’d appreciate that.


DR. ANN TRACY:  I’ll work on that.


I am here representing our directors in California.  I head the International Coalition for Drug Awareness.  You just heard from Tom Woodward.  He and his wife, Kathy, are our directors in the Pennsylvania area.  But two directors we have here in California:  Jergen Victor and Sara Bostock.  They were unable to attend today; and so, I am here to represent them as well as thousands of families not only across the nation but around the world that we work with who have suffered these tragedies.  Both Jergen and Sara have lost children as a result of the use of antidepressants.  Sara’s daughter, Cecily, stabbed herself in the middle of the night, after being on Paxil only a short time.  The family came in and discovered her in the middle of the night, in the kitchen, on the floor.  She had stabbed herself twice in the heart.  Jared, after only five days, at age fifteen, on Paxil, stabbed his step-grandmother 61 times.  Jared has been imprisoned ever since.  So, in two different ways, these families have lost their children.


I’m also here representing many other families.  In fact, on the plane on the way over, I just jotted down a few tragedies that I could think of.  I think I’ve got about thirty here.  The number of deaths is absolutely incredible.  One family in my own neighborhood lost their son who was an officer in Richmond, California.  He and his fellow partner were both shot, and then the man killed himself, a Korean fellow.  He was also on these drugs.  And that was Officer Haynes.  I’m also here representing Phil and Brynn Hartman.  I was the expert in their case.  I have worked very, very closely with their family.  They cannot be here today, and I want the world to know that we have lost all of these people as a result of these so-called medications.  


Now, there’s, like I said, so many more:  Mothers who have killed their children throughout the state.  Children who have killed their parents.  Husbands who have killed their wives.  Wives who’ve killed their husbands.  And there are many reasons why this happens. 


First of all, I refer to the “serotonin blender.”  The hypothesis behind these drugs is backwards.  Serotonin is not low in depression.  It’s the ability to metabolize serotonin.  These drugs actually increase the problem that the patient initially had, and we have much research to demonstrate that.  In fact, the research has been there since the mid-fifties.  There is absolutely no way these companies did not know that these drugs would do exactly as we have seen.  In talking to someone who has seen those internal documents and read through the company’s trials that they are refusing to open and give to the public, to quote that individual, “Everything you have said for the last fifteen years is true.”


That is how long I’ve done this.  I’ve been testifying as an expert witness in cases for twelve years.  This is the book that I’ve put together on the research that’s out there, that has been out there this entire time.  Dr. Felix Sulman back in the mid-fifties found that serotonin was actually a toxin in the brain, causing patients to suffer from many, many serious problems, all of which are now listed as side effects of these drugs.  When you go through the research, it’s absolutely mind boggling.  


Here in California, in 1996, a university in Southern California produced a study called “The Mutant Mice Study.”  They looked at mice that were genetically engineered, and in a terrible experiment that went wrong, these mice ended up the most violent creatures the researchers had ever seen.  They wanted to know why, when one was dropped in the cage with another, that they would literally shred one another.  When the researchers looked at this, they found that what had happened is the mice genetically did not inherit the ability to metabolize serotonin, which is exactly the way these drugs work.  So, they literally said in their study that they had found the key to violence, which was an excess of serotonin in the brain; exactly what we are being told is the therapeutic effect of these SSRI antidepressants.


The research, I stress again, is very clear.  A pharmacist contacted me not long ago very, very concerned about this, hoping that he and I were not the only ones that saw this.  He said, These drugs are developing almost a Hitler-like mentality in patients.  He referred to a woman who he said was one of the nicest women in town, who faithfully came to him to get her Prozac for three years until she went to prison for hiring a hit man to kill her husband.  So, he had seen that in patients, just working with them, and I hear that from pharmacists all across the country.


Another great concern I have is the very strong steroid effect of antidepressants.  One, single 30 milligram dose of Prozac given to an individual will double the level of cortisol.  I did prepare a paper, which you will have, a medical paper talking about the steroid effects of antidepressants and why it’s so important to understand that these drugs, too, can produce the “Roid Rage” that we see with steroids.  It is a domino effect with the glandular system of the body that does cause that, and then what that leads to is an overstimulation of the brain stem.  When the brain stem becomes overstimulated, there is no paralysis during sleep and you begin to have the ability to act out nightmares.


In fact, on my way here today, on the plane next to me was a young man who, at age fifteen, had been given Celexa.  I asked him if he began to strike out in his sleep while he was on the drug.  He said, Oh, I was striking out.  I was talking in my sleep.  Everyone said I was just doing the strangest things while I slept.  I said, That is a RIM sleep behavior disorder.  You were that close to acting out your worst nightmare, and that’s what a RIM sleep behavior disorder is.


When you look at brain wave patterns of a patient on these drugs—and you will be provided those as well—this shows that the patient. . . . this is a patient who’s been on Prozac six months.  And this has been presented to the FDA first in 1991 and again in February.  This shows that the patient is in a total anesthetic sleep state.  This brain wave pattern shows he’s dreaming, and yet, he’s sitting there talking to them, just as we are talking right now, appearing alert and functioning, and yet the brain is completely gone.  That is a RIM sleep behavior disorder, and I believe that is why so many families report that in talking to their loved ones on these medications, at times there’s just a blank stare and nobody is home.


So, I would stress to you that with the information that we now have, especially with the RIM sleep behavior disorder, the researchers who are looking at this disorder that used to be known as only a drug withdrawal state, we now find 86 percent of the cases being diagnosed are patients on an antidepressant.  Eighty-six percent of the cases they’re seeing of this most horrible disorder where you act out your worst nightmare is a patient on an antidepressant.


Rusty Yates will tell you in a heartbeat that what his wife did was acted out her worst nightmare.  She was on two of these medications at maximum dose.  She and her children did not have a chance, as do so many, many others across this country.  This is literally a modern-day holocaust:  murder by prescription.  And I urge you to please do anything you can to find out the truth about this and stop these tragedies.  Please.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you for your testimony.


What we’ll ask each of you to do before you leave is give us your name and address and submit them to the sergeants or to my staff so we have a way of following up with you.


Thank you, Dr. Tracy.


Yes sir.


MR. FRANK CUNY:  Thank you, Senator, for allowing time for the public to comment.


My name is Frank Cuny, and I’m the director of California Citizens for Health Freedom.  I’ve been the director of that organization for ten years which works on the right of citizens to have access to alternative approaches in all forms of treatment.  Prior to that I was the chair of our Butte County Advisory Committee on Special Education for eight years, and I was on the executive board of the Neurological Handicapped Association many years ago, which is what now is Attention Deficit Disorder, autism, and other disorders that were called.  And I had my own childhood problems with my own mental health issues.  Dropped out of high school and went through a long series of processes.  Thank God not suicide, but I can relate to that process.


I want to say that one of the things that should be considered is that there are alternative approaches for the treatment of depression, and the holistic health approaches should be part of that pattern that goes into there rather than immediately going to the drugs.  The drugs may be appropriate, particularly for short-term usages.  But there are biochemical imbalances within individuals.  Let me give you one illustration.


When a child is given an antibiotic for, let’s say, treatment of ear infections, which doesn’t work for ear infections, by the way, it creates an imbalance within the intestinal system within it, and it sets up an overgrowth of yeast within the intestinal tract, and that yeast is a host to a parasite that puts off a chemical that causes mental confusion, particularly to girls in the teenage years.  It causes severe mental confusion, and you add then to the change in the natural hormonal balances that go in that process.  Years ago that was considered one of the causes of suicide before this whole drug situation came about, and that’s an easy thing to test for, onto that process.


We now know—another illustration—many of the individuals with bipolar disorder have an amino acid imbalance.  Not too difficult to test for.  Not too difficult to work on a basis of nutritional changes into it.  But the aspect of holistic health as not part of the treatment modality I think is a major failing in our health system today; that the mental health system fails in that process.


I’ve talked to numbers of people in county mental health and particularly some of the street people, and they say, Hey, I don’t like the way the drugs make me feel.  They make me feel horrible.  But they don’t work on the fact that an individual patient can take a great deal of responsibility with the right counseling to be involved in their program than to be depending upon strictly the drug approach.  Because when you enter into a system where you can have some personal responsibility for your lifestyle changes and do that—and the teenagers and the young people who testified recently at the Safe Harbor Conference said that the experience of coming off the drugs and moving forward and breaking that, they need to be involved in their process.


But we need to involve the naturopaths.  We need to involve good nutritionists.  We need to involve the physicians who are in the Orthomolecular Society of Medicine.  We need to bring in the other part of science into this process if we really want to solve the problem.  Once in a while it’s appropriate to go to drugs, but to have a system based upon drugs and the costs that’s involved, it’s a lot less expensive to go the other direction, and I hope that you look to those things in the future.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you for bringing that perspective to us.  I think that’s important.


Next.


DR. TRACY:  Can I give you a backup on that real quick?


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  We need to go on.


DR. TRACY:  Okay.  I was going to say, Dr. _______ said to do the same thing.


MR. CUNY:  Let me offer another thing, is teaching individuals how to trigger the relaxation response and be involved in the relaxation response and reduce the stress level.  We do have a bill, by the way—Senator Vasconcellos’ bill—that we’ve been pushing forward that will allow physicians to offer alternative treatments, because in California the law is very clear:  Physicians are licensed to practice conventional medicine.  If they recommend the alternative approaches, they can be disciplined by the Medical Board.


Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you.  We have two more witnesses.  And thank you, again, to the two more members of the public who have joined us.


Welcome.


MS. SUSAN ANSPACH:  My name is Susan Anspach.


I wanted to say that Dr. Tracy was very humble in not introducing herself.  She’s a very incredible research person in this whole field.  People often go to her with their stories first.  And Karen Menzies will often concur with Dr. Tracy.


This is not in my field.  I’m one of the few people that came up here speaking about something that’s not in her field; although, I have my personal experiences, which is why I got into it, with tragedy as well.  But that isn’t what I want to address, if I may, unless you prefer it.  I really want to address some of the things that went on today that concern me, and they have to do indirectly with what’s going on in Illinois and with the President’s NFC.  As politics says:  As California goes, so goes the country.  And I want us to be careful.


These drugs, whether we talk about informed consent as a piece of paper, whether we talk about informed consent as having a tape recorder, making sure the doctor is saying the right things and the patient is listening—you could put it in a million ways.  The fact is, we’re sitting here saying things like 70 percent—was it 70?—yeah, it’s actually 73, I heard last—percent of the people who give out these prescriptions are not qualified.  And then we say we need to teach them.  Well, excuse me.  This is a very serious deal.  


When women write to me—because I am now on the board of a group that helps people so that my grandson and my daughter’s problems are not in vain—when people write to me, I’m about to be pregnant and my doctor says it’s okay to take Prozac.  What do you think? and I say, I’ll just give you my opinion, one of the things I keep hearing is, But it was my doctor!  It’s my gynecologist.  It’s my obstetrician.  It’s my GP internist.  And I’ll say, Well, okay, let’s say you need cardiovascular surgery.  Are you going to let this doctor do it for you?

What I hear is a lack of extreme seriousness about psychiatry.  Why do we say, We just need to tell these people about the drug warnings and what the FDA says, when doctors work in a specialty called psychiatry and then a double specialty called psychopharmacology?  Why are we even considering allowing GPs, obstetricians, and gynecologists to give out these drugs?


My fear is, with the law intervening—and I’m going to be straight out with this—is a eugenics movement, and I heard it today.  I heard so much talk about eugenics and almost none about euthenics.  Cook was his name?  Mr. Cook got into the euthenics of it, meaning we are talking so much about. . . . I felt like I’m in Brave New World!  We are talking so much about the problem of these diagnoses.  Let me say—and this sounds very cynical of me, but I believe it, all right?—there was something like—and I’m just throwing these out as round figures to give you an idea.  In the DSM—the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, as was mentioned several times—in something like 1962 there was something like 112 diagnoses, and then it went up to 170, and then it went up to 212, and there’s something like, I’m sure Dr. Tracy knows, but there’s something like 340.  Those diagnoses are amazingly coincidental with the drugs that have been looked into.


We keep talking about things as mental illnesses.  Why aren’t we talking about sadness?  Why aren’t we talking about unhappiness?  Why are all these teenagers depressed?  What is this word “depression”?  I don’t like that word “depression.”  It covers too many things.  Sometimes people are just blue.  Sometimes it lasts quite a while.  Sometimes people are really sad.  It was interesting to me, for example—and I’m sorry for being all over the place.  If I’d known I was going to speak, I would be more organized.  I’m really sorry.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  You’re doing well.  Why don’t you take one more minute or a couple seconds more.


MS. ANSPACH:  One more thing about this thing of just allowing.  Now we’re talking about letting obstetricians and internists and GPs become psychopharmacologists by studying something.  What about prescriptions they give out from samples?  Hello?  That’s not even in the thing as prescriptions.  I have a doctor who handed me a bag of Effexor for a friend of mine.  That is a doctor who doesn’t even know the patient, will never have a follow-up.


I am very scared of the eugenics.  I’m serious.  The Hitler Holocaust began with the American eugenics movement where we tried to change things.  If you remember in the nineties, I think it was, or the eighties—I don’t remember exactly—when we tried to find the gene for violence?  The only reason the IMH was stopped was because they put their foot in their mouth when the head of the NIMH said, We have to stop the monkeys in the jungle in the inner-cities, and that was the end of looking for the gene for violence.  I sound pretty radical, but I will tell you something.  We have to watch how these things are done.  We cannot just throw money at it.  


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Okay.


MS. ANSPACH:  One more second.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  We’re going to need to leave the room in about three minutes because I have another meeting.  


MS. ANSPACH:  As this woman said—what’s her name?  Pat Samuelson said, and I asked her specifically, students, or people who come to her—teenagers—if they have both the psychiatry and the drugs do better than ones with either just psychiatry or just drugs.  So, I asked her, Are those two different doctors?  I said, Could it be that they’re getting attention from two different people?

So, my concluding statement is we need to look at the culture.  We need to better the educational system as opposed to have nine children to a teacher . . .


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you.


MS. ANSPACH:  . . . as opposed to giving them Ritalin.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Great.  If you have anything additional, please bring it to us in writing.


I would like to ask our last member of the public if you could be brief—about two minutes.


MS. SUSAN WEISS BERRY:  Okay.  My name is Susan Weiss Berry.  My husband, Mark Berry, had been taking Effexor for two-and-a-half years, and he committed suicide on April 6th.


I want to bring up another way that these drugs are very dangerous that hasn’t been discussed today, and that’s this phenomenon of “wearing off.”  This is something I knew nothing about until I read Dr. Glenmullin’s book.  The case study in there is almost identical to Mark’s case study.  The fact of the matter is that these drugs can wear off in 30 to 40 percent of patients after approximately a year.  This is information that we were never, ever given, that if a patient is supposedly doing well on a drug but they’ve been on a drug for a long time, and then they enter into a new and very stressful situation, the drugs can spontaneously wear off.  But if you’re taking your medication every day, you don’t ever think that any symptoms you have can possibly be related to a drug that you’ve previously done well on.


My husband was exhibiting symptoms of stress which seemed very reasonable considering he had a new job that was very stressful.  He was irritable and more aggressive than I had seen him, but neither he nor I put together the fact that this was a problem.  The day that he committed suicide, he got up that morning and got ready to go to work.  Took a shower, shaved, took the dog out.  I heard the door close, and I thought he left.  I found him an hour later in his study dead.  So, that’s how sudden the brain apparently can shift on these drugs.


The other thing that I just want to mention briefly is the larger problem with the way medicine is being handled right now.  I’ve been a nutritionist for twenty-five years, so I’ve not only dealt one on one with patients, but I’ve also dealt with the medical community.  The way that people are healed, with or without medication, to me is based on the relationship they have with their healthcare provider, whoever that is.  If a healthcare provider is given seven minutes and they get a bonus somehow for only seeing a patient for seven minutes, then what they have an opportunity to do is go through that ridiculous checklist where the patient in front of them is not being seen.  They’re looking at, How’s your sleep?  How’s your sex drive?  Are you—whatever.  I don’t know what the entire checklist is.  The patient in front of them may be exhibiting something like. . . . the top of their chart might be stamped “New Insurance” which should alert a doctor that a patient has a new job.  When I dealt with men, the two questions I always asked is, How’s work? and How’s your home life?


If my husband’s doctor would have asked, How’s work? he would have gone off in a second because he told everybody he could find how much he hated this job.  That might have alerted the doctor to the fact that he was suffering from irritability, and she might have intervened.  She was one of those doctors who was aware of “wearing off” because when I spoke to her afterwards, she’s the one who told me, Oh, yeah, the drug must have worn off because of stress, and he probably had a psychotic break.  And I said, Why didn’t you ever give us this information during your meetings with my husband?  She had no answer.


So, the HMO system itself is a very, very big problem that’s robbing people of that relationship that used to be there between patient and their physician.  It’s too much now a hierarchical relationship.  It’s not a cooperative relationship anymore.  The doctor doesn’t want to hear too much.  They want to just go through their spiel, get the patient out of the room.  It’s very, very dangerous.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Thank you, too, for sharing.  I’m sorry about your loss.


MS. BERRY:  Thank you.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Again, I want to thank everybody, including these members of the public who’ve testified, and underscore, just reemphasize, some of the parts of the hearing.  Any hearing like this gives us a certain level of information and tells us how much we don’t know at the same time.


One of the things I personally stress as part of our wellness task force is looking at alternatives.  We have a diabetes epidemic.  We have an obesity epidemic.  We have a lot of other health epidemics that can be cured through good nutrition, some kind of normal exercise activity or active lifestyle of some kind.  So there’s a lot of other issues, a lot of other alternative ways of dealing with mental health, as well as what we are talking about in terms of medication.


The whole issue of informed consent we’re going to continue to look at and the whole issue of the degrees.  I think Dr. Glenmullin indicated from mild stress—and you mentioned the difference between sadness and a crisis where you’re going through a divorce or you broke up with your boyfriend or you have a life crisis of some kind.  Is that a depression, and what kind of treatment does that deserve?  How do we screen for that?  What are the costs?  There’s costs associated with the medication.  I asked our good consultant, Terry Leach, to look at what are the annual costs of using Paxil or Celexa or Zoloft versus other strategies?  And if we coupled that cost with a monitoring system that’s more effective, what would that total cost be?  How can we determine, through blood tests or others, whether an individual is metabolizing or not?  What’s the risk that someone is not metabolizing it correctly and then it’s building up in the bloodstream to some kind of dangerous level?


So, these are many unanswered questions which we’ll need to pursue and follow up from today.


I want to thank Jack Hailey, our consultant for Deborah Ortiz.  Senator Ortiz had to leave on a flight for Boston, so she was not able to stay with us the whole time.  But between the two staffs and Terry Leach here—and Liz West, if you would raise your hand in the back—we want to thank you for your excellent efforts on my staff team.  And we had some wonderful interns from UC Berkeley and Mira Monte High School—Kyle Maurer and Jessica Cooper.  Kyle, just raise your hand.  Thank you for your efforts. 


Again, to all the witnesses—thank you—and to the members of the public who joined us.  We will be pursuing the questions and information that’s been provided today.


Thank you.
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